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INTRODUCTION






“I am heartily rejoiced that my term is so near its close. I will soon cease to be a servant and will become a sovereign,” wrote eleventh president James K. Polk. Nearly identical sentiments revealing an enormous sense of relief surface repeatedly as America’s chief executives prepare to leave behind the responsibilities of the presidency. Although many had fought furiously to reach the pinnacle of power, most were glad to hand over its reins to their successors.




[image: ] It isn’t how long you are president that counts, but what you accomplish as president. I’ve had my chance; I did fairly well with it. I made some kind of a place in history for myself. Someone else might have done better than I did, but I could not; for I did my best. [image: ]


—Theodore Roosevelt





This book is an attempt to provide not only an objective account of each presidency and an appreciation of each man’s character and abilities, but perhaps equally important, describe events and people shaping the lives of those who have taken the presidential oath of office. By and large, each man had the intellect and ability to hold the post, sometimes rising to meet the challenges of his time. Each was also human, complex, and contradictory, with flaws and foibles that often resulted in his being revered or dismissed. Historians often attempt to discern commonalities among this small group of men in the hope of determining what attributes best prepare a person for the presidency. The following illustrates some of these shared characteristics.


Most of the presidents were middle-born, with the greatest of that number being the second child of the family. Episcopalian has been the predominant religious affiliation (eleven), with Presbyterian having the second highest number (six). While being an attorney is the primary occupation, many presidents could also list academic or military experience on a résumé. Most had served in some type of elected office before moving to the nation’s highest. Fourteen had previously served as vice presidents; five were US senators; and nineteen had been elected to the House of Representatives. (John Quincy Adams’s tenure in the House was after his presidential term.)


When running as a presidential candidate, most winners have been Republicans (eighteen). Fourteen have been Democrats; and the rest represented earlier political parties. Most were in their fifties at the time of their inauguration, but Theodore Roosevelt still holds the record as the youngest president, at age forty-two (John F. Kennedy was the youngest elected president, at forty-three), and Ronald Reagan was the oldest when he was sworn in, at age sixty-nine.


Much about the presidency has evolved and grown over the lifetime of the institution. George Washington had five cabinet members and a handful of staff to run the executive branch. His salary was set at $25,000 (although he refused it) and that salary would not increase for nearly one hundred years. The current White House office staff numbers over four hundred, but each cabinet member rules a sizeable bureaucracy. Presidents now earn $400,000 yearly and, beginning with Truman, are also paid a pension.


Not only has the office of the presidency changed over the last two centuries, but the theory of democracy continues to evolve, inspiring discussion and passion along recurring political themes. Debate marches on about the need for more or less government in the lives of its citizens, especially in terms of regulating, taxing, and supporting the masses. Should power reside with the federal or state governments, the executive, legislative, or judicial branch, or should we attempt a balance, and how? Should we be isolationists or the world’s superpower and police? These questions continue to divide the nation and have often influenced and shaped an administration.
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PRESIDENT JAMES K. POLK, 1846


The upward climb to the presidency often reveals itself to be much easier than undertaking the tasks and responsibilities of the office. Enemies abound and their actions have resulted in the deaths of four presidents and multiple attempts on the lives of others. Another four died of natural causes during their term. Unquestionably, the job of running the country—whether a century ago or today—takes its toll on a person. One merely needs to examine photographs taken “before” and “after” presidential terms to discern the shocking change exacted by the time spent in the nation’s highest office. (The two official portraits of President Polk shown here, painted by the same artist, are a dramatic example. The first was painted at the beginning of his term, in 1846, and the second at the end of his term in 1849.)


Finally, every president is concerned with how he will be viewed by future generations. With the fate of his country and more recently, the world, upon his shoulders, each occupant has contemplated how he would be remembered, hoping that his decisions would be greeted positively by posterity.
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PRESIDENT JAMES K. POLK, 1849


Historian Arthur Schlesinger Sr. introduced the practice of rating presidents in 1948, and other surveys have been conducted since that time. The majority of chief executives are typically ranked in the average category, with the “great” including Washington, Abraham Lincoln, and Franklin D. Roosevelt. Those often in the bottom ranking include Andrew Johnson, Franklin Pierce, Warren G. Harding, and James Buchanan. Such lists, however, should be treated with caution, I believe. How does one compare the presidency of a Franklin Roosevelt dealing with the nation’s worst fiscal depression and then World War II with, say, a Calvin Coolidge who was president during the booming 1920s? Those who served in the nation’s highest office would probably concur with fellow president Theodore Roosevelt: “It isn’t how long you are president that counts, but what you accomplish as president. I’ve had my chance; I did fairly well with it. I made some kind of a place in history for myself. Someone else might have done better than I did, but I could not; for I did my best.”
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GEORGE WASHINGTON


★ ★ ★ FIRST PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: February 22, 1732, in Westmoreland County, Virginia


•   Died: December 14, 1799, at Mount Vernon, Virginia


NICKNAME


•   Father of his Country


RELIGION


•   Episcopalian


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   None


PROFESSION


•   Land surveyor, politician, farmer


MILITARY SERVICE


•   Lieutenant Colonel in French and Indian War


•   Led Continental Army to victory against the British in Revolutionary War


FAMILY


•   Father: Augustine Washington (1694–1743)


•   Mother: Mary Ball Washington (1708–1789)


•   Wife: Martha Dandridge Custis Washington (1731–1802; a widow with two small children); wed January 6, 1759, at New Kent County, Virginia


•   Stepchildren: John “Jacky” Parke Custis (1754–1781); Martha “Patsy” Parke Custis (1756–1773)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Virginia House of Burgesses (1758)


•   Justice of the Peace, Fairfax County (1770)


•   Delegate to the Williamsburg Convention (1771)


•   Delegate to the First Continental Congress (1774)


•   Delegate to the Second Continental Congress (1775)


•   Delegate and president of the Constitutional Convention (1787)


PRESIDENCY


•   Two terms: April 30, 1789–March 4, 1797


•   No political party (opposed formation of political parties)


•   Reason for leaving office: set precedent of two-term presidency


•   Vice president: John Adams (1789–1797)


ELECTION OF 1789


•   Electoral vote: unanimously elected by newly formed Electoral College (the only person ever to be elected president unanimously)


•   Popular vote: none


ELECTION OF 1792


•   Electoral vote: unanimously elected by newly formed Electoral College


•   Popular vote: none





Towering above the city bearing his name is an obelisk rising more than 555 feet (169m) high. It is fitting that the Washington Monument soars higher than any other monument in the city, for during his lifetime George Washington’s presence acted as a beacon of hope to all, as Americans endured war and took their first shaky steps as a new nation.




CABINET


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







SECRETARY OF STATE


Thomas Jefferson (1789–1793)


Edmund Randolph (1794–1795)


Timothy Pickering (1795–1797)


SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY


Alexander Hamilton (1789–1795)


Oliver Wolcott Jr. (1795–1797)


SECRETARY OF WAR


Henry Knox (1789–1794)


Timothy Pickering (1795–1796)


James McHenry (1796–1797)


ATTORNEY GENERAL


Edmund Randolph (1789–1793)


William Bradford (1794–1795)


Charles Lee (1795–1797)


POSTMASTER GENERAL


Samuel Osgood (1789–1791)


Timothy Pickering (1791–1795)


Joseph Habersham (1795–1797)





EARLY LIFE


Born February 22, 1732, at Pope’s Creek in Westmoreland County, Virginia, George Washington was the first son of Augustine “Gus” Washington and his second wife, Mary Ball. Augustine had two sons, Lawrence and Augustine, by his first wife, who died in 1729. He remarried over a year later. George was later joined by three brothers and one sister who lived to adulthood.


George Washington’s early education apparently only included the basics taught by tutors at home and in nearby schoolhouses. Mathematics became his favorite subject. When he was only eleven years old, he lost his father. The two had never been particularly close—Gus, a slave-owning planter, was often away acquiring and overseeing land in other parts of Virginia, and had business in England, as well. Consequently, George’s older half-brother Lawrence stepped in and became his surrogate father.


Lawrence had served at sea under British admiral Edward Vernon, and younger brother George looked to a life at sea as a respectable vocation. Mary Ball Washington strongly disagreed. Unable to follow his dream, George left his mother and moved in to Lawrence’s estate, Mount Vernon. He also taught himself how to survey—a first step toward earning a living while waiting to inherit land from his father’s estate, which would occur when he turned twenty-one.


Lawrence had married neighbor Ann Fairfax of the wealthy and powerful family at Belvoir plantation. This new familial connection enabled young George to broaden his world. Always graceful in the saddle, as well as on the dance floor, he became a favorite for parties at the Belvoir estate. At six feet three inches, he easily stood above anyone in a room and caught the eye of many a young lady.


Washington continued his education by reading classics from the family library and enjoying musical entertainments, although he refrained from singing or playing an instrument. Most importantly, Washington joined the circle of men who discussed the economy, the price of tobacco, and the issues concerning Virginia, as well as its mother country. Lord Fairfax and his friends were impressed by the young man and decided to offer him a job that would take him deep into the frontier that he would later defend.


GOING WEST


By 1748, Virginians greedily eyed lands to the west in the Shenandoah Valley. Speculators snapped up titles, but disputes over land grants abounded; consequently, accurate surveys were desperately needed. Lord Fairfax employed a local surveyor for the task but also asked sixteen-year-old George Washington to be the assistant. Eager for the chance, George agreed; however, he still needed his mother’s permission. Mary Washington only acquiesced when she was told her son would be paid. The next month Washington was viewing a world of endless economic potential, in his words “[spending] the best part of the day in admiring the trees and richness of the land.”1 The surveying team traveled by horseback through rugged terrain and swollen rivers, paddling canoes when necessary. They met German settlers, and even Native Americans “coming from war with only one scalp,”2 who performed a war dance for them. They battled heavy rain and floods. Nevertheless, the teenager performed his tasks and all that was required with aplomb and skill. Lord Fairfax’s choice had served well.


[image: ]


When the job was completed, Washington returned to Belvoir for a festive occasion—young George William Fairfax had recently married and brought home his bride, Sally Cary. Nearly two years his senior, Sally instantly captivated Washington with her beauty, wit, and charm. He became smitten and cherished any time he spent in the lady’s company.


After acquiring his surveyor’s license, Washington frequently trekked out to the frontier for other surveying jobs. He now had the title of Culpeper County surveyor, and continued as well in the employ of Lord Fairfax. He earned a healthy income, sometimes being paid in cash, other times in land, which allowed him to begin to plan for the future.


Plans were put on hold, however, when his brother Lawrence asked George to accompany him on a voyage to Barbados. After enduring years of illness and now tuberculosis, traveling to the Leeward Islands seemed the only remedy for Lawrence. Unfortunately, he did not improve, and George developed smallpox. With such a strong constitution, Washington survived the attack, but Lawrence died six months later.


Knowing that Lawrence’s estate was to go to his infant daughter, George decided to request the unthinkable and asked Robert Dinwiddie, lieutenant governor of colonial Virginia, for Lawrence’s adjutant general’s position. Without military experience or powerful family connections, the thought of acquiring such a well-placed title seemed ludicrous. The governor, though, believed that the young man was deserving, and Washington was granted one of four military districts, albeit the smallest. George Washington was now Major Washington, a remarkable achievement for a man who had just turned twenty-one.




SUPREME COURT APPOINTMENTS


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







John Jay, Chief Justice, 1789


James Wilson, 1789


John Rutledge, 1790


William Cushing, 1790


John Blair, 1790


James Iredell, 1790


Thomas Johnson, 1792


William Paterson, 1793


John Rutledge, 1795 (an associate justice 1790-1795)


Samuel Chase, 1796


Oliver Ellsworth, Chief Justice, 1796





MAJOR WASHINGTON


After learning of a broadening French presence in the upper Ohio Valley—with the aim of controlling the many rivers there for transporting furs to Europe—Governor Dinwiddie wrote to King George II for instructions. His Majesty agreed that the French must be told to remove themselves from the region. The governor needed an emissary who could endure the travails of such a wilderness journey in winter—George Washington eagerly volunteered.


Washington and six other men, including a guide and an interpreter, began the nearly six-week journey to reach Fort Le Bouef near Lake Erie. Washington successfully delivered the ultimatum and gathered intelligence regarding the strength of the French. The French boasted over wine that “it was their absolute design to take possession of the Ohio, and by G-- they would do it, for though they were sensible that the English could raise two men for their one, yet they knew their [the English colonies’] motions were too slow and dilatory to prevent any undertaking of theirs.”3


Washington survived numerous threats to his life during his journey back to the Virginia capital in Williamsburg, including being shot at by an Indian, falling into the icy Allegheny River, and sleeping in buckskins that froze to his body. These would not be the last instances when George Washington would narrowly escape death.


[image: ]




STATE OF THE UNION


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







US POPULATION IN 1790


3,929,214


PRESIDENT’S SALARY


$25,000/year (he declined it)


STATES ADMITTED TO UNION


North Carolina, November 21, 1789 by ratification of the Constitution


Rhode Island, May 29, 1790 by ratification of the Constitution


Vermont, May 4, 1791


Kentucky, June 1, 1792


Tennessee, June 1, 1796





THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR


At Governor Dinwiddie’s request, Washington wrote his report of the journey for publication, the account appearing not only in the colonies, but in London, as well. The governor subsequently promoted his emissary to lieutenant colonel and ordered him to recruit a hundred men from northeastern Virginia in response to the reported intentions of the French. In the spring of 1754, worried that the French might reach the new fort constructed by Virginians on the forks of the Ohio River (present-day Pittsburgh), Washington was ordered to defend the fort.


En route, Washington learned that the French had indeed seized the fort and constructed their own larger one on the same site and named it Fort Duquesne. Washington ordered a stockade, which was named Fort Necessity, to be built approximately fifty miles east in an open clearing known as the Great Meadows. One night, under cover of darkness, he, his fellow Virginians, and fifteen Iroquois attacked the French. Stunned by the surprise attack, the French barely retaliated. Their commander, Ensign Joseph Coulon de Jumonville, was killed by the Iroquois chief— war had begun.


On July 3, the French, led by Jumonville’s brother, attacked Fort Necessity—“that little thing in the meadow,”4 in the words of a Seneca chief. Washington’s force was greatly outnumbered by the French, and Fort Necessity, being simply a depression in an open field, was at a severe disadvantage. Rain pounded and French sharpshooters picked off the Virginians. The French suggested surrender, a proposal that Washington was slow to accept. Finally, he sent an interpreter to open negotiations. For three hours, Lieutenant Colonel Washington considered his next action. Ultimately, he signed a surrender, unwittingly admitting to the “assassination” of Jumonville. The French would later use Washington’s admission as “proof” that this was a war initiated and commenced by the British. The Battle of the Great Meadows, or the Battle of Fort Necessity, marked the beginning of the French and Indian War, and would be George Washington’s only military surrender.


The disheartened officer returned to Virginia, assuming that his military career was at an end. His brother Lawrence’s daughter had died, and his widow remarried. Washington resided at Mount Vernon, which his sister-in-law had now leased to him. Still, Washington longed to join the British military presence building up in Virginia preparing to march on the French Fort Duquesne.


King George and Parliament concluded that British regulars were more experienced and reliable than colonial militia so, in 1755, the British army was sent in force to win this war against its longtime foe. General Edward Braddock—who was more comfortable behind a desk pushing papers than sitting on a horse commanding men in battle—took charge in Virginia. Washington negotiated with Braddock for a position equal in rank to British officers; both agreed that Washington would serve as a volunteer and aide-de-camp to the general.


Washington fought dysentery and was dangerously ill for days while the army advanced toward its destination, Fort Duquesne. Wanting to participate in the upcoming victory, he managed to rejoin the army in its final march. On July 9, 1755, with only eleven miles to go, the French force of nine hundred men, mainly Native Americans, attacked British and colonial troops. Although superior in numbers, the British were unable to recover from the shock of the screaming attackers who were snatching scalps with lightning speed. Washington watched the panic-stricken regulars run about and recalled, “Nothing but confusion and disobedience of orders prevailed among them.”5 The memory of that sight, as well as Braddock’s stubborn insistence to fight in the open, would linger with Washington. He ended the day with two horses shot from under him, one musket ball hole in his hat and four through his coat. General Braddock, on the other hand, did not escape serious injury. He was shot in the lung and lingered for three days while Washington and other surviving officers supervised the retreat.
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Upon his return to Virginia, Washington found himself a hero, as well as the sole officer of his colony to survive the battle without being wounded. He quickly wrote to family members assuring them he was alive, since word had circulated to the contrary. Twenty-three-year-old Washington used his newfound fame to bargain a plum assignment from Governor Dinwiddie. Now he would serve as a full colonel and commander in chief of the Virginia Regiment, with the power to appoint his own officers; be paid well and reimbursed for expenses; take responsibility for his own budget; and fashion a new uniform of his own design. Soon Washington was riding about the countryside exhorting militia to be vigilant against Native American attacks and correcting their lax discipline. He also recommended sites of new fortifications and improvements for existing ones. Being on frontier outposts and far from friends, family, and home gave him time to contemplate his future, and he decided to make a few changes.


After a whirlwind courtship, George and the wealthiest widow of Virginia, Martha Dandridge Custis, became engaged. On January 6, 1759, they were wed, and he soon resigned his military commission. Martha had two children, Jack and Patsy, both toddlers, from her first marriage to Daniel Parke Custis, and now George was content to retire to Mount Vernon with his new family. He also took his first steps in a political career and was elected to a seat in the Virginia House of Burgesses. George Washington was truly leading the life of a southern gentleman.
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FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR (1754–1763)  ★  The French and Indian War was actually the fourth installment in a series of wars between longtime rivals Great Britain and France. The first war, King William’s War (1690–1697), did not settle the battle over the colonies. Another war, Queen Anne’s War (1702–1713), continued the same bloody conflict on colonial frontiers, as French Canadians and their Indian allies attacked settlements in New England, and British colonists retaliated in kind. The Treaty of Utrecht ceded lands including Hudson Bay, Acadia, and Newfoundland to the British, but ill feelings remained between neighbors. A third war, King George’s War (1744–1748), once again saw fighting on the frontier, but the status quo was returned with the Treaty of Aix-la-Chappelle. Seven years later, the ongoing tensions between France and Great Britain heightened yet again, with France controlling the lion’s share of territory and attempting expansion. When the British pushed back (partly owing to the efforts of a very young Major George Washington), war ensued. This time, there was a major prize at the end—the winner took northern and eastern North America.







BATTLE OF THE MONONGAHELA, (July 9, 1755)  ★  British General Edward Braddock and his force of fifteen hundred British and American colonial troops were ambushed approximately ten miles east of Fort Duquesne (present-day Pittsburgh). French troops and approximately six hundred Indian allies overwhelmed their enemy and imposed devastating casualties upon them in a bloody battle of hand-to-hand combat. Braddock was fatally wounded, and Washington was his only officer to escape from the conflict unscathed. The young Virginian took control and led the British and militia troops out of the area to safety.





CALM BEFORE THE STORM


While living at Mount Vernon, George Washington experimented with new farming techniques, including crop rotation, and switched from soil-destructive tobacco to wheat as his cash crop. He watched Martha’s children grow and treated them as his own, but the couple never had any children of their own. Patsy suffered with epilepsy, and despite her parents’ efforts to find medical treatment that would cure her, the fits continued until one killed her when she was a teenager.


As British trade policies gained a stranglehold on colonial affairs, Washington pushed for the colonies to take action. He supported boycotts of some imports, but resisted forbidding all British trade. In 1770, he undertook a task of special significance, inspecting lands of the Ohio country, which were compensation for the men who had served in the French and Indian War. Proudly he later wrote of this effort, “If it had not been for my unmerited attention to every favorable circumstance, not a single acre of land would ever have been obtained.”6


Washington traveled to Philadelphia in 1774 as part of the Virginia delegation to the First Continental Congress. There he met other concerned colonists, including the Adams cousins—John and Samuel. They agreed to boycott British goods, as well as to meet again in May 1775.


The meeting in May occurred in a decidedly different atmosphere. Weeks before, British regulars and colonial militia had clashed at Lexington and Concord. Now the question of what action to take next needed to be addressed. The Second Continental Congress appointed Washington to head committees on military matters, hoping a southerner would be able to broaden support for the revolt beyond New England. His military service was a matter of record, and his uniform, which he wore daily to Congress, was a steady reminder of his pride of service.


On June 14, 1775, John Adams nominated Washington to become commander in chief of the newly created Continental army. The nominee immediately stepped out of the chamber so his fellow delegates could debate his qualifications. The following day he was unanimously elected general. He began writing letters to various friends, but most importantly to his wife Martha. He wrote, “Far from seeking this appointment, I have used every endeavor in my power to avoid it . . . It has been a kind of destiny, that has thrown me upon this service, I shall hope that my undertaking it is designed to answer some good purpose.”7


GENERAL WASHINGTON


The new commander arrived in Cambridge, Massachusetts, on July 2, 1775. The army was still reeling from its loss at Bunker Hill weeks before, and New England officers greeted Washington with resentment. Lack of discipline and organization plagued the fledgling army. General Washington repeatedly begged Congress for more men and supplies while also pleading for a reorganization of the army and the development of a navy. These problems would dog Washington for the entire war.
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An overwhelming defeat on New Year’s eve of American forces attempting to invade Quebec dampened spirits as the year 1776 began, but Washington thrilled Bostonians when cannons miraculously hauled from Fort Ticonderoga at Lake Champlain in New York were installed, forcing the British from the city. Buoyed by this victory and the issuance of the Declaration of Independence, people looked forward to a quick end to the war. All hopes vanished, however, during the fighting in New York as the British soundly beat Washington time and again during the summer and fall. Faced with being outnumbered and, as John Adams said, “outgeneraled,” Washington came within a hair of losing at least half his forces. Fortunately the British moved slowly and allowed Washington the opportunity to retreat. This he did, and continued to do so across New York and New Jersey, all the way across the Delaware River to Pennsylvania.




[image: ] A government is like fire, a handy servant, but a dangerous master. [image: ]


—George Washington, in Congress on his appointment as commander in chief, 1775





Determined not to give up—but fearing his men would when their enlistments expired at year’s end—Washington planned a daring move. He would mount a surprise attack on Hessian troops garrisoned at Trenton, New Jersey, on Christmas night. The gamble worked, and he followed up this victory with another a fortnight later at Princeton. There he narrowly pulled victory from the jaws of defeat by slipping around the British at night and attacking them from the rear the following day. Washington led his men in the fighting, and a Pennsylvania militiaman wrote, “I saw him brave all the dangers of the field and his important life hanging as it were a single hair with a thousand deaths flying around him.”8


Although 1777 began victoriously, Washington and the Continental army lost at Brandywine and Germantown, as well as at Philadelphia, forcing the Continental Congress to flee one step ahead of the British. Only the great victory of American troops at Saratoga, New York, in October provided any encouragement for the war-weary Americans. By now, Washington’s staff had been joined by a French nobleman—Marquis de Lafayette. The nineteen-year-old quickly won over Washington with his sheer determination and desire to aid America in its quest for freedom. The two men shared a mutual regard for each other that lasted the rest of their lives.


Meanwhile, rumblings in Congress grew ever more vocal to replace Washington with Horatio Gates, the senior commander of the battle of Saratoga. Lacking a stellar record in the current conflict, detractors thought Washington incapable of winning the war and worked to remove him. Fortunately, despite their behind-the-scenes machinations, Washington remained in command.


Then in December, the army went into winter quarters, thus beginning the most depressing chapter yet of the Revolution—the encampment at Valley Forge. Washington watched his ragtag army of 11,000 men dwindle daily—some deserted, but more often the cause was death from disease, starvation, and the bitter cold. He lost nearly one-third of his men that winter. The remaining soldiers were drilled into a fighting force with the arrival of Prussian officer Baron Frederich von Steuben. Finally, in June 1778, the previously demoralized troops marched out of Valley Forge, heads high, for they now looked and acted like a disciplined army. Their endurance through that horrible winter symbolized the heroism shown by American patriots during “the times that try men’s souls,”9 as Thomas Paine wrote.
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AMERICAN REVOLUTION (1775–1783)


During this period of the second half of the eighteenth century, broad social shifts were occurring in American society and new republican ideals were being championed. When Britain determined the colonies should pay for their own defense and imposed a series of taxes to that end, the colonists protested against being taxed without representation. Fighting broke out in 1775, and in 1776, representatives of the thirteen colonies voted unanimously to adopt a Declaration of Independence. An alliance with France in 1778 allowed the newly formed United States of America to approach the strength of the British military. After British armies were captured at Saratoga in 1777 and Yorktown in 1781, the Treaty of Paris was signed in 1783, recognizing the United States as an independent nation bordered by British Canada on the north, Spanish Florida on the south, and the Mississippi River on the west. These are the battles George Washington was involved in.


NEW YORK CAMPAIGN (1776)  ★  The campaign was a series of battles fought in August and September 1776. The first was the Battle of Long Island, where Washington’s men were outnumbered two to one and hit from in front by Hessians and successfully cut off from behind by British general Sir William Howe’s men. Although disheartened, Washington managed to save his remaining army by ferrying them across the East River to Manhattan at night. More battles and defeats ensued for the beleaguered Continental army as they retreated northward, and by the end of October, they were pushed out of New York to New Jersey.


BATTLE OF TRENTON, NEW JERSEY (December 25, 1776)  ★  Knowing that enlistments were over as of December 31, 1776, and that the men’s spirits were at an all-time low following their loss of New York, Washington crafted a plan to surprise Hessians camped at Trenton, New Jersey, on Christmas night. His plan worked and his twenty-four hundred men only suffered four deaths while capturing more than one thousand Hessians.


BATTLE OF BRANDYWINE, PENNSYLVANIA (September 11, 1777)  ★   Hoping to prevent the British from taking Philadelphia, Washington fought them on the Brandywine River on September 11, 1777. Outmaneuvered by General Howe, and fighting against fog and confusion, the Americans lost the battle, and Philadelphia was taken two weeks later without a shot.


BATTLE OF GERMANTOWN, PENNSYLVANIA (October 4, 1777)  ★  On October 4, 1777, five miles north of Philadelphia, Washington planned to surprise Howe’s encampment as he had successfully done against the Hessians the year before. His efforts, however, failed this time when American forces encountered considerable resistance and were forced to retreat. More than a thousand men were killed or wounded; British losses were half that number.


BATTLE OF MONMOUTH, NEW JERSEY (June 28, 1778)  ★  The struggle was the first battle for American troops following training by General Friedrich von Steuben at Valley Forge. Ten thousand Americans fought an equal force under the command of Lieutenant General Sir Henry Clinton in the drenching heat of June 1778, near Monmouth Courthouse, New Jersey. The beginning of the battle, however, started poorly for the Americans when General Charles Lee ordered his men to retreat, causing Washington to become quite upset and swear profusely at Lee, directing him to leave the field. The battle is considered a draw.


SIEGE OF YORKTOWN, VIRGINIA (September 28–October 17, 1781)  ★  In the spring of 1781, Washington met with French leader Comte de Rochambeau at Newport, Rhode Island, to plan a joint military effort against the British. They determined that their best hope was to attack Lord Cornwallis’s forces in Virginia. In July, Washington once again managed to pull a sleight of hand by fooling British commander General Clinton into believing that the Americans were planning to remain in the New York area and attack him. Leaving behind a small force for the charade, the rest of the continental troops marched southward and by September were in Williamsburg, Virginia.


Cornwallis was awaiting British support at Yorktown, but the French fleet cut off his plans and his hopes of escape. At the Battle of the Virgina Capes on September 5, the French under Admiral de Grasse successfully forced the British navy to retreat to New York, leaving Cornwallis to face his fate against Washington and the French. On October 9, the siege began as allied cannons pounded the British position continuously. Within the week, the British had pulled back, and the Americans and French moved in closer. When efforts to retreat across the York River failed on the night of October 16, Cornwallis determined he must ask for terms. Then on October 19, Cornwallis’s men, numbering more than eight thousand, surrendered to the Americans and French, whose combined forces totaled more than seventeen thousand.
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By 1778, French support began arriving. Washington led his troops to a tactical draw at the battle of Monmouth, New Jersey. Here they displayed their newfound discipline and looked and acted as one army.


Unable to win the war in New England or the middle states, the British next took the war to the south. The British sent General Charles Cornwallis, and Washington dispatched General Nathanael Greene. Fighting began in South Carolina and continued north to Virginia. In the meantime, Washington met with French General Comte de Rochambeau to plan how the French could work jointly to win a decisive victory over the British. The French disagreed with Washington on how best to achieve this goal and left him fearful about the future.


During this period, the traitorous actions of the American general Benedict Arnold to cede West Point to the British came to light, causing Washington, who had long been his champion, no small degree of discomfort. Further, mutinous activities by unpaid Pennsylvania soldiers began on the first day of 1781. General Washington subdued the uprising and ordered executions for two New Jersey ringleaders. Concerned that the French would not remain in the fight much longer, and wearying of the ongoing difficulties in keeping Americans fighting, he wrote that his country was on the “verge of ruin.”10 Fortunately, the tide turned and by the end of 1781, prospects for victory appeared more favorable.


Moving northward to Virginia, British general Cornwallis provided an opportunity for Washington’s troops and the French to trap the British forces at Yorktown, Virginia. In September 1781, the French navy defeated the British in the battle of the Chesapeake, also known as the Battle of the Virginia Capes. It was the only major defeat for the Royal Navy in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Next, the Franco-American troops arrived and tightened the noose around the British defensive works. Digging in, they laid siege to the British lines. For nearly three weeks, Cornwallis attempted to avoid the inevitable, but by mid- October he could delay no further.


On October 19, 1781, the British army surrendered, although General Cornwallis begged leave and sent his second in command to actually perform the painful duty. Washington refused to accept the snub and instead referred the officer to his own second in command. Although ecstatic about this surrender, Washington’s spirits were dampened by the death of his stepson Jack Custis, who had served with him at Yorktown until he fell ill.


The last two years of the American Revolution were scenes of infrequent skirmishes but no large-scale battles. Washington returned to New York to keep British general Henry Clinton in check, but American officers grew restless from lack of pay. Some apparently contemplated dismantling Congress and replacing it with military authority—namely George Washington. Washington addressed the dissatisfied men with a speech that moved them to forego their scheme; instead, they signed a letter pledging their loyalty to Congress.
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In 1783, the Treaty of Paris was finally signed, officially ending the American Revolutionary War between the Kingdom of Great Britain and the United States of America, and British troops packed and left American shores. In December, General Washington took leave of his staff and traveled home to Mount Vernon. The weary warrior had served his country and now only hoped for a peaceful retirement.


RETIREMENT, BUT NOT FOR LONG


Anxious to continue improvements at Mount Vernon, Washington immediately busied himself with enlarging and remodeling the house, as well as improving the plantation’s productivity through better farming practices. Attempting to likewise raise his financial productivity, he renewed his longtime interest in land speculation. In 1784, he toured his western lands in the Shenandoah Valley, where he found, to his disgust, squatters who had moved onto his lands and now considered them their own. Washington disagreed. The squatters were not swayed, and a two-year legal wrangle ensued. Washington emerged victorious, but his reputation was damaged by the image of the absentee landlord mercilessly throwing peasants off his land.


Looking to the future, Washington struggled with his reliance on slavery. Officers, including Lafayette, had urged him to support emancipation with the successful conclusion of the Revolution. Conflicted by the understanding of the immorality of being a slave owner but foreseeing the complexity of such an emancipation, Washington considered whether he should free his slaves. Ultimately, he compromised by granting their emancipation in his will, but only after Martha’s death.


Washington grew increasingly distressed by the ineffective means of government provided by the Articles of Confederation. In 1785, he wrote to fellow Virginian James Madison, “We are either a United people, or we are not. If the former, let us, in all matters of general concern act as a nation . . . If we are not, let us no longer act a farce by pretending to it.”11 This unicameral government lacked both executive and judicial branches, as well as basic powers, including taxation. States held the key authority and their individual interests at times threatened the whole. Leaders from various states sounded out the former commander in chief about the possibility of his attending a convention to discuss the Confederation’s shortcomings. Henry Knox, one of Washington’s former generals, offered a military analogy, saying that Washington should only attend (go into battle) knowing the outcome would be victorious;12 he discouraged Washington from lending his name or presence unless this convention would produce something meaningful. Madison and others worked to convince Washington that he should attend the Philadelphia convention beginning in May 1787.


THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION


Once the convention began, electing a president to chair it was a relatively easy decision. Unanimously they put their trust in the man who had led them through the dark days of war. As their leader, Washington seldom participated in any debates, but in private discussions with delegates it was apparent that he favored a strong federal government as a replacement for the weak confederation. During a ten-day break in the proceedings, Washington journeyed to two places of importance to him during the war—Trenton and Valley Forge, finding the latter “overgrown with weeds.”13
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Washington was descended from King Edward III (1312–1377) of England through his paternal grandmother.


Washington was a second cousin seven times removed of Queen Elizabeth II (1926– ).





He returned to the convention, which finished its business on September 17, 1787.


Washington watched from the sidelines while supporters and opponents fought for and against the ratification of the Constitution. Washington allowed his name to be mentioned as a key supporter but wrote no speeches or essays, such as those penned by Madison, Jay, and Hamilton in The Federalist Papers. He did not attend any conventions in Virginia or elsewhere, but stayed close to Mount Vernon. In June, word arrived that the necessary majority of states had approved the Constitution. Now a president needed to be elected. News of his unanimous electoral election reached Washington on April 14, 1789. Then, in New York City on April 30, George Washington was inaugurated as the first American president.




THE PRESIDENTIAL OATH OF OFFICE  ★   Each president recites the following oath, in accordance with Article II, Section I of the US Constitution: “I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will faithfully execute the office of President of the United States, and will to the best of my ability, preserve, protect, and defend the Constitution of the United States.”





PRESIDENT WASHINGTON


As America’s first president, Washington embarked on a journey without a map, or as he said, “I walk upon untrodden ground.”14 Apprehensive about taking a misstep, he tread cautiously. He rented a fine house in New York and set up housekeeping alone, no doubt impatient for Martha to make the trek from Mount Vernon.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Washington was the only president inaugurated in two cities: New York, 1789, and Philadelphia, 1793.





Anxious to adhere to his interpretation of the chief executive’s duties as detailed in the Constitution, Washington had precious little work to do in his opening months. Congress made the laws, and the president sat back to determine whether he should sign the bills into law. He believed that he should consult the Senate for its “advice and consent” before negotiating a treaty with the Creek Indians, and appeared personally to discuss the issue. To Washington’s dismay, his request set off a vigorous debate, which the president felt had been a waste of time. A precedent was set. All future treaties would be negotiated by the executive branch and then submitted to the Senate for approval.


Other precedents established in those first months included determining the proper way to address the president. Some preferred a highly formal title, such as “His Excellency,” but many considered it too monarchial. President of the United States or Mister President were finally agreed upon as the accepted manners of address for the leader of the new republic. Washington also decided that he would hold two weekly receptions open to the public; otherwise, he was available by appointment only. The president originally began his term in office intending to resign before its expiration in favor of John Adams, thereby serving only a partial term. He changed his mind, however, and fulfilled his first term, as well as a second one. Stepping down after the second term itself became a precedent followed by all others except Franklin D. Roosevelt.


FIRST TERM


Fully aware of his limitations, Washington set out to surround himself with cabinet members he could trust and who would represent the country geographically. He asked his old friend Henry Knox to lead the War Department and trusted aide Alexander Hamilton to become secretary of the treasury. Fellow Virginian Edmund Randolph was appointed attorney general, but the secretary of state’s position remained open for a year. Ultimately he named another Virginian, Thomas Jefferson, to the post. Little did Washington realize that the appointment would permanently impact America’s national politics. Ideological differences between Jefferson and Hamilton would form the outline of the nation’s first party system: Federalists, under Hamilton, who supported expansive federal power, and Democratic-Republicans, under Jefferson, who supported states’ rights and limited federal power. By assembling a talented cabinet, he felt confident in their opinions and advice. Cabinet meetings, though, were a rarity. Instead, Washington would send a messenger to a cabinet secretary with files and expected a verbal response within four hours. The commander in chief was not interested in wasting time; he wanted matters addressed in a timely manner.
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Financial concerns facing the country were uppermost for both Washington and Secretary of the Treasury Hamilton. Hamilton fashioned a series of proposals to gradually pay America’s multi-million-dollar debt, as well as to secure a sound foundation for its future finances. As the proposals were unveiled, Secretary of State Jefferson objected to them one by one, arguing that each overstepped the authority of the federal government. Likewise, James Madison attacked the measures as they came before the House of Representatives. Nevertheless, Hamilton’s proposals passed, and, to Jefferson’s dismay, each was also signed into law by President Washington. Both Jefferson and Hamilton sought the president’s ear, and he in turn examined their arguments closely. But understanding the need for a stable economy, he leaned toward Hamilton.




FRENCH REVOLUTION (January 21, 1793)  ★  Beginning on July 14, 1789, with a mob in Paris storming the Bastille (an old French prison), the French Revolution began. Former American general Marquis de Lafayette served as one of the leaders in this effort to emulate the liberty sought successfully by Americans. Within three years, efforts to establish a constitutional monarchy under King Louis XVI and his wife Marie Antoinette failed, as did those to create a republic. The world heard with horrified shock the news of the king’s beheading by the new French invention, the guillotine, on January 21, 1793. European powers, including Great Britain, determined not to allow the infectious spirit of revolt to spread and attacked France. This ongoing conflict threatened to embroil the new American nation, as well, and so Washington issued the Neutrality Proclamation.





During Washington’s first term, he traveled to every state because he believed it was imperative that he see the nation and that he, as representative of the federal government, be seen by the people. First he visited New England, where he was snubbed by Massachusetts governor John Hancock, who thought the president should call on him. Washington disagreed, knowing that the subordinate calls on the superior in such social situations and that if he called on Hancock, it would be understood that the federal government was subordinate to the state governments. Hancock relented and paid the president a call, thus establishing that the president outranked any governor in any state.


The Industrial Revolution was in its infancy, and the president toured a textile facility that was using child labor. He also visited Harvard College, continued on to Maine, and then returned through the “amazingly crooked”15 roads of Massachusetts. He refrained from traveling on Sunday since the people of Connecticut disapproved.
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NEUTRALITY PROCLAMATION  ★  Fearful of being dragged into a war that America could ill-afford to fight, President Washington issued a Neutrality Proclamation on April 22, 1793, against the advice of his secretary of state, Thomas Jefferson, who felt it violated America’s earlier treaties with its ally France. The issuance of the proclamation launched a pamphlet war between Hamilton (writing for the Federalists) and Madison (writing for the Jeffersonians/Republicans).





In May 1790, people of New York and elsewhere fretted over news that the president lay dangerously ill from pneumonia. Within a week, though, he was out in public again and celebrating the news of Rhode Island’s ratification of the Constitution. Now all thirteen states were one nation. That nation, however, faced a crisis on its frontier from its former foe, the British. Neglecting to obey the Treaty of Paris, British forces remained in their forts and outposts along the Great Lakes. Using these as bases to aide their Indian allies, they launched attacks into the American frontier. Washington sent troops to fend off these assaults, but the inexperienced soldiers were handed devastating defeats. Attempting to find a competent officer to crush the enemy would not be an easy task. Eventually the president appointed General “Mad” Anthony Wayne, one of his former Revolutionary War officers, who employed skilled tactics to defeat the Native Americans at the Battle of Fallen Timbers. The president understood that even with military victories, the underlying problem remained—the continual stream of settlers onto native lands—and he wrote, “Scarcely any thing short of a Chinese wall will restrain Land jobbers and the encroachment of settlers upon the Indian country.”16


In 1791, Washington traveled by coach to the southern states. This excursion took him nearly two thousand miles, where he was greeted and feted in town after town. The hero rode one of his personal mounts, a white stallion named Prescott (complete with leopard-skin cloth and gold-rimmed saddle), into the major towns. Washington gave speeches tying the Revolution to the new nation’s first steps and visited battlefields from the war. Meanwhile his cabinet continued to battle itself.


Hamilton and Jefferson debated Hamilton’s financial plans for the young nation’s future, including a tax system, an independent central bank, and a dollar tied to gold. They eventually signed, along with James Madison, the Compromise of 1790, which would move the capital from New York to Philadelphia for ten years, then permanently move it to Washington, D.C. Packing, moving, and finding new schools and tutors for President and Mrs. Washington’s adopted grandchildren caused the First Lady considerable additional effort and she looked with great anticipation to the end of her husband’s term. To her surprise and dismay, her husband served a second term, but she dutifully remained beside him. Washington himself was not happy at the prospect of serving a second term, but his cabinet begged him to do so, insisting that the country depended on his leadership.


SECOND TERM


By 1793, war between Great Britain and France had ignited once again. Both nations wanted America’s help, but Washington understood only too well that it was not in his country’s best interests to be dragged into war by either side; consequently, he issued a Neutrality Proclamation. While some Americans were relieved, others, especially French supporters, saw it as a slap to America’s former ally. France’s representative, Edmund Genet, was dispatched to the United States and did his best to stir the pot of anti-British feelings, which proved embarrassing to Secretary of State Jefferson. Not surprisingly, President Washington demanded the French recall their diplomat.


Closer to home, rebellion threatened. Another ingredient of Hamilton’s financial plan was the levying of an excise tax on whiskey. Western Pennsylvania farmers who distilled their grain into whiskey for easier transportation angrily refused to pay a tax. Understanding the need as chief executive to enforce laws, however unpopular they may be, Washington took action. He and Hamilton donned their old uniforms and led 15,000 militia to the area to quell the Whiskey Rebellion. Rather than fight, the lawbreakers backed down, and another precedent was set, crushing this first real challenge to federal authority.




[image: ] Promote then, as an object of primary importance, institutions for the general diffusion of knowledge. In proportion as the structure of a government gives force to public opinion, it is essential that public opinion should be enlightened. [image: ]


—George Washington, Farewell Address, 1796





Weary of the continual quarreling and political backbiting, Jefferson resigned in 1793 as secretary of state. By now the difference in vision between Jefferson and Hamilton had created political parties. Democratic-Republicans followed Jefferson and Hamilton led the Federalists. Washington watched with mounting concern the growing tensions between factions and cautioned of its danger. In 1795, Hamilton also resigned, but the damage was done.


In 1795, Washington applauded the Treaty of Greeneville, which ceded more Native American lands in the Northwest Territory to the US. This capped a nearly four-year war between US forces and Native Americans.


Also that year, the Senate ratified two other important treaties. Pinckney’s Treaty with Spain met with greater approval since it opened the port of New Orleans and improved relations with that country. Jay’s Treaty with Great Britain required the British to finally vacate their forts in the Great Lakes, as ordered in the Treaty of Paris in 1783, which had ended the Revolutionary War a decade earlier. Strong disapproval, however, greeted Jay’s Treaty because it failed to address two key issues: British boarding of American ships and inspecting them for contraband, and the British practice of “impressment” by which they could seize sailors from American ships and force them into service of the Royal Navy by claiming the Americans were still Englishmen.


Finally, George Washington could look toward his second retirement. Absolute in his refusal to serve a third term, he now only desired to spend what time he had remaining at Mount Vernon with his family. Ending his presidency provided the opportunity to say goodbye to a grateful nation. In his Farewell Address, mainly crafted by Hamilton, Washington cautioned the nation of the “baneful effects of the spirit of party” and their willingness to exploit the differences of geographical regions for political gains. He warned against incurring a large national debt “upon posterity the burden which we ourselves ought to bear.” Regarding foreign relations, he advised, “The great rule of conduct for us in regard to foreign nations is, in extending our commercial relations to have with them as little political connection as possible.” Copies of his Farewell Address were reprinted throughout the country (it was never delivered orally), and by mid-March 1797, George Washington was once again a private citizen, residing at Mount Vernon.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Washington refused a third term.


Washington declared the first official Thanksgiving in 1789, “A Day of Publick Thanksgiving and Prayer.”


US currency: Washington is on the quarter and the one dollar bill.





FINAL RETIREMENT


A number of household repairs required Washington’s immediate attention upon his return home. He and Martha also played host to a steady stream of visitors. In 1798, with a war looming against France, President John Adams asked Washington to once again assume control of the army. George Washington agreed, but only on the condition that he would not be required to actually take command in person.


By now, the man who once embodied strength and vitality required glasses and was hard of hearing. Washington’s teeth were now nearly all gone, replaced by hippopotamus ivory, and his hair was white. During his presidency, he had endured the removal of a cancerous growth on his leg and a bout of pneumonia. He was slow to recuperate from both.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Washington introduced the mule to American agriculture. The king of Spain gave Washington a donkey, named Royal Gift, which Washington sent on a thousand-mile tour of southern states to sire strong and hardy mules.





On December 12, 1799, planter Washington took his customary ride over his lands for nearly five hours. As he rode, temperatures dropped and snow began to fall, which later turned to sleet. By late afternoon, he rode back to the house but failed to change from his cold wet clothes, as he had guests and correspondence that required his attention. The following day he developed a sore throat that by the middle of the next night left him gasping for air. Martha wanted to send for a doctor, but he refused, saying that they could wait until morning. During the next day, three physicians arrived, and they bled the patient four times, but Washington’s breathing only grew more labored and he could no longer swallow. Adding insult to injury, the doctors purged their patient with laxatives, which only increased his discomfort. By now, his windpipe was nearly closed; the man who had stared down death countless times was now being choked to death by his own body.


By the evening of December 14, Washington told them to stop. He said, “Doctor, I die hard, but I am not afraid to go.”17 A little after 10:30 p.m., George Washington breathed his last after telling his secretary Tobias Lear, “Have me decently buried and do not let my body be put into a vault in less than two days after I am dead.” He asked Lear if he understood; Lear replied he did. Washington’s last words were “ ’Tis well.”18


Washington was buried on December 18, 1799. The funeral included soldiers, patriotic music, and a group of Masons from Washington’s lodge in Alexandria. His will freed one slave and allowed the rest to be emancipated upon Martha’s death. She died three years later, on May 22, 1802, and was laid to rest beside her husband of nearly forty-one years in the family vault at Mount Vernon.


HIS LEGACY


During his lifetime, George Washington had been a man bound by duty—first for his colony and then for his country. He had forsaken pay to win a war and serve as his nation’s first president. In that office, he had established numerous precedents involving the chief executive, his role, and how he is perceived by the people. Washington was loved by Americans then and is admired today. Former Revolutionary War cavalry commander General “Lighthorse” Harry Lee summed up the legacy of the first president best when he said: “First in war, first in peace, and first in the hearts of his countrymen.”




[image: ]  . . .that the free Constitution, which is the work of your hands, may be sacredly maintained; that its administration in every department may be stamped with wisdom and virtue; that, in fine, the happiness of the people of these States, under the auspices of liberty, may be made complete by so careful a preservation and so prudent a use of this blessing as will acquire to them the glory of recommending it to the applause, the affection, and adoption of every nation which is yet a stranger to it. [image: ]


—George Washington, Farewell Address, 1796
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JOHN ADAMS


★ ★ ★ SECOND PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: October 30, 1735, in Braintree (now Quincy), Massachusetts


•   Died: July 4, 1826, in Quincy, Massachusetts


NICKNAMES


•   Atlas of Independence, Architect of the Revolution, Colossus of Debate, Colossus of Independence, His Rotundity, Duke of Braintree


RELIGION


•   Unitarian


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   Harvard College, 1755


PROFESSION


•   Schoolmaster, lawyer, farmer


MILITARY SERVICE


•   None; considered founder of US Navy


FAMILY


•   Father: John Adams (1691–1761)


•   Mother: Susanna Boylston Adams (1709–1797)


•   Wife: Abigail Smith Adams (1744–1818); wed October 25, 1764, in Weymouth, Massachusetts


•   Children: Abigail Amelia “Nabby” (1765–1813); John Quincy (1767–1848) sixth president; Susanna (1768–1770); Charles (1770–1800); Thomas Boylston (1772–1832)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Massachusetts delegate to the Continental Congress (1774–1777)


•   Commissioner to France (1778)


•   Minister to the Netherlands (1780)


•   Minister to England (1785)


•   Vice president (1789–1797)


PRESIDENCY


•   One term: March 4, 1797–March 4, 1801


•   Federalist


•   Reason for leaving office: lost to 5 in 1800 election


•   Vice president: Thomas Jefferson (1797–1801)


ELECTION OF 1796


•   Electoral vote: Adams 71; Jefferson 68


•   Popular vote: none





On July 4, 1826, John Adams finally succumbed to the ravages of age—he was ninety. Brought to bed by pneumonia and a weak heart, he was unable to participate in the country’s festivities celebrating the fiftieth anniversary of the Declaration of Independence. The events of that day fifty years earlier still weighed on his mind. His final words were, “Thomas Jefferson still survives.” Little did he know that his old friend and sometime rival had preceded him in death by only a few hours. Within days, news of this amazing coincidence traveled throughout the nation. Many considered the deaths of these leaders on such a historic occasion a divine message acknowledging that the country was flourishing and strong enough to survive the loss of two of its founders.




CABINET


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







SECRETARY OF STATE


Timothy Pickering (1797–1800)


John Marshall (1800–1801)


SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY


Oliver Wolcott Jr. (1797–1800)


Samuel Dexter (1801)


SECRETARY OF WAR


James McHenry (1797–1800)


Samuel Dexter (1800–1801)


ATTORNEY GENERAL


Charles Lee (1797–1801)


SECRETARY OF THE NAVY


Benjamin Stoddert (1798–1801)


POSTMASTER GENERAL


Joseph Habersham (1797–1801)





EARLY LIFE


On October 30, 1735, John Adams was born to John and Susanna Boylston Adams in the family’s saltbox home in Braintree, Massachusetts. His father worked as a farmer and performed various civic roles including tax collector, constable, selectman, and deacon in the town’s Congregationalist church. His father tutored him when he was a child, and later John attended nearby schools. Not always mindful of his studies, the boy often hunted and fished instead with his two younger brothers. Farming did not require such diligent application, he reasoned. His father, however, wanted his son to attend Harvard College, possibly with an eye toward becoming a minister.


John Adams entered Harvard in 1751 and a new world of knowledge, reading, and debating opened before him. He joined a literary society and found he had a special flair for public speaking. His thoughts turned from the ministry to the law. Adams graduated in 1755 and immediately went to Worcester to teach in a local school during the day and read law at night. He passed the bar in 1758 and returned home to Braintree to begin his legal career.




STAMP ACT (March 1765)  ★  Parliament passed the stamp tax as a way to raise revenue for offsetting the expense of sending British troops to guard America’s frontier borders. Although its cost was trivial, colonists believed its concept was monumental. Protests began and the words “No taxation without representation!” rang through the colonies.





RESPECTED CITIZEN


The young attorney built a solid law practice, but it required him to travel often, throughout Massachusetts, including the area now known as Maine. Still, he found time to court various young women, and he nearly proposed to one, Hannah Quincy. Two of Adams’s friends arrived as he was about to pop the question, and Hannah ended up marrying someone else. Consequently, a few years later he was free to win the heart of young Abigail Smith, daughter of a local parson. Although Abigail was never able to attend school, her parents made sure that she was well read and trained in housewifery skills. Against her mother’s wishes, who fretted over her daughter marrying the country lawyer son of farmers, Abigail and John became engaged and were wed on October 25, 1764. The following year they welcomed their first child, a daughter, and later, three boys who survived to adulthood, including future president John Quincy Adams.


During the early years of his marriage, John Adams embarked on a political career. The Stamp Act prompted him to write, “We have always understood . . . that no freeman should be subject to any tax to which he has not given his own consent.”1 His remarks were reprinted throughout the colony, and he was asked to join others protesting British actions. The ardent young lawyer attended political meetings at the invitation of his cousin Samuel Adams and friend James Otis.
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Eager to expand his business prospects, John Adams abandoned the country life, opening his law office in Boston, in 1768, and renting a house for his family. One of his clients was the wealthy John Hancock, whom Adams defended successfully against a smuggling charge. In another case, he defended four American sailors charged with killing a British naval officer. Their case was self-defense, Adams argued, for the British had tried to force these men into service in the British navy. This would not be the last time Adams would challenge the British practice of impressment.


Unquestionably the most famous case of John Adams’s legal career was his defense of the British soldiers tried for the Boston Massacre in 1770. British soldiers had killed five colonists and the people of Boston demanded blood payment. Adams believed the soldiers deserved a fair trial and accepted the case, which no one else was willing to pursue. One of his first requests was a postponement to allow the city’s temper to cool. He then gained an acquittal for the officer, Captain Preston. By ensuring the jury was composed of rural men rather than city folk of Boston, he eventually won acquittals for five soldiers and manslaughter convictions for the other two.


The same year, 1770, John Adams was elected to the Massachusetts legislature, where he served for the next four years. Boston, meanwhile, continued to be troublesome for the British king and Parliament. In December 1773, members of the Sons of Liberty stealthily climbed aboard tea ships at anchor and dumped their contents into the harbor. British retaliation was swift, and Boston harbor was closed as of June 1, 1774. That autumn, the first meeting of the Continental Congress was held in Philadelphia, and John Adams was selected to be one of the five delegates from Massachusetts. A non-importation agreement was drafted as well as an agreement to organize local committees for enforcement. In preparation for the unwelcome event of war, the Congress also called for more militia training throughout the colonies. The decision was made to reassemble the following spring if there was no improvement in the colonies’ relations with Great Britain.




BOSTON MASSACRE  ★  Growing tensions in Boston between its citizens and British troops quartered there erupted into bloodshed on March 5, 1770. Confronted by an angry mob, British soldiers fired into the crowd, mortally wounding five citizens. Later, the officer in charge, Captain Thomas Preston, was arrested, along with eight of his soldiers, and they were charged with murder. John Adams agreed to defend the men at trial. Preston and five of his men were acquitted; the remaining two were convicted of manslaughter.





REVOLUTIONARY


When John Adams returned to Philadelphia in May 1775, circumstances had changed drastically over the five ensuing years. Blood had been shed in Lexington and Concord; war seemed more imminent. Toward this end, Adams was keenly aware of the need to unite the country. At the time, the struggle seemed to be a concern only for New England; something had to be done to demonstrate a broader support base. Adams nominated Virginian George Washington, instead of his friend and fellow delegate John Hancock, to be commander in chief of the newly created Continental army.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Adams was the first president to attend Harvard College.


Adams was the first president to live in the White House (then called the Executive Mansion).
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SONS OF LIBERTY  ★  Several groups known as the Sons of Liberty formed in the colonies originally to protest the Stamp Act in 1765. Members organized protests against British policy that, while peaceful at first, sometimes degenerated into more violent demonstrations. Leaders of the Boston Sons of Liberty included Sam Adams and Paul Revere.





The months that followed were agonizing for John Adams, as he waited impatiently for other delegates to agree that the time had come to part company with their mother country. Adams likened the colonies to a fleet at sea that could only sail as fast as the slowest vessel. He served on various committees, including chairing the War and Ordnance Board, but the committee assignment that brought him the most fame was his appointment with Thomas Jefferson and Benjamin Franklin to draft the Declaration of Independence.


In Thomas Jefferson, whom he met on the Virginian’s arrival in Congress the previous year, John Adams believed that he had found a soul mate. He also considered Jefferson a better writer, so when the committee met, the decision was quickly made to make Jefferson the declaration’s author. Once it was completed, Adams and Franklin looked the document over, made a few suggestions and changes, and then submitted it to Congress.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Adams was one of three presidents who died on the Fourth of July, along with Jefferson and Monroe (in 1831).





On July 1, debate began over Virginia’s Resolutions for Independence, approved weeks before by their House of Burgesses, which stated, “All political connection between them [the colonies] and the state of Great Britain is, and ought to be, totally dissolved.” Leading the charge in opposition was John Dickinson of Pennsylvania, who feared that his colleagues were acting too rashly and not permitting enough opportunity for compromise with their mother country. Standing to answer “with a power of thought and expression that moved us from our seats,”2 Jefferson later wrote, was John Adams. No notes remain of Adams’s speech, but the following day, the Second Continental Congress approved independence and began debating the Declaration. Again it was John Adams rallying to its defense, since Jefferson was a notoriously poor speaker. The Declaration of Independence was adopted on July 4 and the official copy signed on August 2.


John Adams continued working as a key delegate and, with others on his war committee, worked fifteen-hour days attempting to do what was needed to ensure America kept troops in the field. Toiling on the Articles of Confederation also demanded much of his attention. He wrote Abigail, “Never in my life, had I so many cares upon my mind at once.”3


DIPLOMAT


In 1778, Congress appointed John Adams as representative to France to negotiate an alliance. Deciding it was a marvelous educational opportunity for his eldest son, John took eleven-year-old John Quincy. They stayed a year, but Adams felt uncomfortable serving with the wildly popular Benjamin Franklin. Moreover, the more sexually open French culture offended the Puritan in him, and he longed to rejoin his family in Braintree.


During the years of her husband’s absence to Philadelphia and then to France, Abigail had managed the farm and family, taught their children, and wrote her husband daily. Finally father and son returned. Very quickly, though, Massachusetts required her husband’s services. More than three hundred delegates attended a convention to write the state’s constitution. John Adams soon joined them, and they happily handed over to him the duty of drafting the document, into which he inserted a section detailing the importance of education, as well as a Declaration of Rights.
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John Adams had hardly settled back into the domestic routine of his household and law practice when he received news that Congress required his services yet again. Appointed as peace commissioner, Adams was being sent to Europe on the all-important mission of securing a treaty with Great Britain, as well as loans from Dutch bankers. Ultimately he was successful on all counts. Adams relished the experience more this time because his family accompanied him. Soon, to his delight, Thomas Jefferson arrived to replace Franklin as American minister to France. There, the two old friends enjoyed the opportunity to become reacquainted while tending to commerce and diplomatic matters for the United States at the court of Versailles, where King Louis XVI and his wife Marie Antoinette presided.


Then in 1785, he was ordered to Great Britain as America’s first ambassador to that nation. He and his family found this assignment quite pleasant. King George III granted Adams an audience and when the king asked John Adams if he was partial to France, Adams answered, “I have no attachment but to my own country.” The king replied, “An honest man will never have any other.”4 While there, Adams wrote a multi-volume treatise on political philosophy, but by 1787, he was eager to pack up his family and return home.




BOSTON TEA PARTY  ★  On December 16, 1773, members of the Sons of Liberty stealthily boarded British tea ships anchored in Boston harbor. Angry that the British were attempting to undercut the price of smuggled tea by removing the middleman and selling the tea wholesale with the tea tax, Sons of Liberty, dressed as Indians, boarded three ships and tossed forty-five tons of tea into the harbor rather than see it unloaded and sold.





MR. VICE PRESIDENT


After numerous communications with Congress and making arrangements for their move, John and Abigail finally reached America in 1788. The country’s new Constitution had been ratified, and in his absence, he had been elected to the first House of Representatives. Others believed a higher office would be more suitable—namely, the vice presidency. Theodore Sedgwick, speaker of the Massachusetts House of Representatives, wrote to Alexander Hamilton praising Adams “as a man of unconquerable intrepidity & of incorruptible integrity.”5


Without a doubt, more thought was given to the vice presidential candidate than the presidential. George Washington would be the first president. But the vice president, a heartbeat from the presidency, engendered more discussion. John Adams was attractive to some because he was from New England and would balance the Virginian Washington; moreover, he had proven himself in important political and diplomatic positions. Ironically, his time spent in Europe in the service of the new republic almost resulted in near disaster for him during his first days as vice president.
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SUPREME COURT APPOINTMENTS


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Bushrod Washington, 1799


Alfred Moore, 1800


John Marshall, Chief Justice, 1801





On the issue of how the president was to be addressed, Adams posed the question to the Senate and suggested, “His Highness, the President of the United States and Protector of their Liberties.” Senators and newspapers derided him behind his back, and John Adams himself gained a new title, “His Rotundity.” This episode taught him to distance himself from Senate debates and to consider as his primary purpose keeping order and voting if a tie occurred. Still, the damage was done, and some insisted the views found in his books displayed a monarchial bent. John Adams continued to attend the Senate sessions and, with deference and acceptance, stated: “My country has in its wisdom contrived for me the most insignificant office that ever the invention of man contrived or his imagination conceived.”6




STATE OF THE UNION


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







US POPULATION IN 1797


5,308,483


NATIONAL DEBT IN 1797


$82,064,479.33


PRESIDENT’S SALARY


$25,000/year


STATES ADMITTED TO UNION


None





President George Washington did not consult his vice president on matters of importance. They saw each other and other members of the government at social functions, but that was the extent of their official contact. As needed, John Adams cast tie-breaking votes in accordance with the president’s opinions. He shared Washington’s concern regarding the growing factions caused by Hamilton and Jefferson. Both men feared that no good would come from creating political parties. By this point, Adams and Jefferson were scarcely on speaking terms.




ARTICLES OF CONFEDERATION  ★  The Articles of Confederation was America’s first governing document, but its weaknesses threatened the stability of the newly formed nation. Ratified in 1781, lack of central government authority (no executive or judicial branches) and emphasis on state power created considerable obstacles when the thirteen states failed to work together. Its failure led to the drafting of the US Constitution in 1787.





With Washington’s announcement that he would retire after two terms, many assumed Adams would run for the office against his rival of the newly created Democratic-Republican Party, Thomas Jefferson. Although Adams was a Federalist, he and its founder Alexander Hamilton disagreed strongly on many major issues that would only become more apparent once John Adams became president. George Washington endorsed Adams, and very likely ensured his election.


PRESIDENT ADAMS


In 1796, the Electoral College cast seventy-one votes for John Adams and sixty-eight votes for Thomas Jefferson. According to the Constitution, the candidate in second place became vice president; consequently, for the one and only time in American history, men of opposing political parties held the top two positions in the government.


The commanding presence of George Washington was replaced by a shorter, rounder, more outspoken president with even less patience for the nuances of his position than his predecessor. Writing years earlier, John Adams said, “Thanks to God that he gave me stubbornness when I know I am right.”7 This trait would help ensure peace for the country throughout his administration.


Within weeks of Adams’s inauguration, the country’s division grew more pronounced when word arrived that France had attacked American ships. France’s actions were a result of Jay’s Treaty (p. 17) between the United States and Great Britain, which the French perceived as an alliance against them; in response, France severed diplomatic relations with America. Learning of France’s unlawful actions at sea, Hamilton led the Federalist cries for war. Jefferson and his Republicans, who had been supporting the French throughout Washington’s administration, were in opposition. Recognizing that his country was not prepared for military action, John Adams sought a diplomatic solution to the crisis. He exercised his constitutional right to call Congress into special session to determine what action should be taken. They, too, backed sending diplomats to France, but also agreed to enlarge the army and the navy. Orders were placed for the construction of six new warships, including the USS Constitution and her sister ships. The president was taking no chances.


[image: ]


Once the diplomats arrived in France, the government refused to meet with them. Talleyrand, the French foreign minister, sent agents to demand a bribe of $250,000 before any further meetings could be arranged. Without hesitation, the Americans, including future chief justice John Marshall, indignantly refused and immediately sent their report to President Adams.


Upon receiving news of the diplomatic impasse, Adams moved forward with preparations for war. Jefferson and his fellow Republicans objected, unaware of the bribe, which the president had not publicly disclosed in the diplomatic report. Finally Adams felt compelled to reveal the information but, out of diplomatic courtesy, replaced the names of the three French agents with the letters X, Y, and Z. When the American people read of the French attempt at extortion, war fever flared hotter than ever. Now the Jeffersonians had to duck for cover as citizens cried, “Millions for defense, but not one cent for tribute!”


Although sympathetic to his countrymen’s outrage, John Adams still desired to keep the peace. He never requested a declaration of war, but off and on for the next two years, the US and French vessels engaged in combat. The Quasi-War ended with another diplomatic mission and an agreement in 1800 providing the United States with neutral status at sea.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Adams was the longest lived president at 90 years 253 days, until Ronald Reagan broke Adams’s record on October 13, 2001. Reagan lived until June 5, 2004—93 years 119 days. (Gerald Ford broke Reagan’s record on November 12, 2006, at 93 years, 120 days, and had outlived Reagan by 45 days when he died on December 26, 2006.)





Fearful of enemies at home, Congress took action in 1798 with the passage of the Alien and Sedition Acts. The Alien Acts were aimed at making it more difficult for the growing number of immigrants (mostly pro-French and pro-Jefferson) to become citizens. The president also gained greater power to deport foreigners who he believed were endangering the nation. The Sedition Act was even more controversial as it became illegal for publications to print articles that were “false, scandalous, and malicious” about the government. Throughout the nation a handful of newspaper publishers were arrested; of course, they were Republicans, and by being jailed during the 1800 election, their viewpoints would be silenced. Or would they?


No one attacked the acts more vehemently than Vice President Jefferson. Understanding that these were directed against him and his party, he unleashed his anger in a whirlwind of letters to political allies. He and James Madison wrote the Kentucky and Virginia Resolutions, which argued that states had the right to nullify any federal laws they found objectionable. This later provided the basis for the South’s position on states’ rights.




XYZ AFFAIR (April 1798)  ★  Faced with potential war against France, President John Adams sent three envoys to negotiate a peace treaty. French officials demanded outrageous bribes be paid before any negotiations could occur. Adams forwarded his diplomats’ report of the bribery to Congress, but replaced the names of the three French officials with the letters X, Y, and Z; hence the name.
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Adams dismissed his secretary of state, Timothy Pickering, for conspiring against him with Alexander Hamilton. Pickering is the only secretary of state to have been fired directly.





Not only did John Adams quarrel with Jefferson, he also found himself strongly disagreeing with Alexander Hamilton, who already despised the president for not sending the country to war against France. Both Adams and Jefferson feared Hamilton might stage a coup when he was appointed inspector general of the army. Republican Elbridge Gerry wrote of the president’s concern that Hamilton would use the army as the means “to proclaim a regal government and place Hamilton as head of it, and prepare the way for a province of Great Britain.”8


Fortunately, all fears of the “Second Bonaparte” proved groundless, but Hamilton was not yet finished with Adams. In the election of 1800, John Adams found himself deserted by the Federalists. Hamilton supported Charles Pinckney for president while the Republicans ran Thomas Jefferson and Aaron Burr. In the Electoral College, Adams came in third place. As he and many successors would learn, a reelection campaign is a referendum on their first term; if the people are unhappy, the result is victory by the opposing party.




[image: ] But a Constitution of Government once changed from Freedom, can never be restored. Liberty, once lost, is lost forever. [image: ]


—John Adams, in a letter to Abigail Adams, 1775





Feeling betrayed and battered by the political experience, John Adams longed for the day when he and Abigail could retire to Braintree. For the last months of his presidency, they had been living in the unfinished hull of the President’s House. Neither regretted leaving it or the small village of Washington. Their happiness, however, was greatly diminished with the news of their son Charles’s death, who finally succumbed to his ongoing battle with alcoholism.


During his final weeks as president, Adams signed a number of appointments for judgeships. Obviously, they were for Federalist judges who he reasoned would maintain balance against the Republicans, who now controlled the other two branches of government. Not surprisingly, these “midnight judges” were not received kindly by his successor. The day of Jefferson’s inauguration found John Adams on his way north rather than staying in town for the ceremony. The rift between the two former friends seemed final. Thankfully it was not.


RETIREMENT


John Adams would spend the next quarter century reading and writing in prodigious quantity. No correspondence, though, was more fulfilling than the one he and Thomas Jefferson began in 1812 at the instigation of mutual friend Dr. Benjamin Rush. Their ensuing letters, with Adams writing the majority, covered a variety of topics from the War of 1812 to slavery. Sometimes Abigail Adams also joined in the correspondence. But in 1818, John Adams’s “Portia” died at the age of seventy-four. Her son John Quincy wrote in his diary, “My mother . . . had no feelings but of kindness and beneficence. Yet her mind was as firm as her temper was mild and gentle.”9


Still John Adams persevered and continued his farm labors. He enjoyed hosting family members and chatting with visitors, including Jefferson’s grandson. In 1824, he rejoiced at the news of John Quincy becoming president. The following year, John Adams celebrated a milestone—his ninetieth birthday. Both he and Jefferson knew their days were numbered and by spring 1826, both men refused invitations to attend the fiftieth anniversary celebrations of the Declaration of Independence. When asked to provide a suitable toast for the occasion, John Adams proclaimed, “Independence forever.” John Adams breathed his last on July 4, 1826, at 6:20 p.m. He was buried beside Abigail at the Congregationalist church in Quincy, Massachusetts.



HIS LEGACY


As president, John Adams had the unenviable task of following George Washington; hence, Adams seems to become lost in the big general’s shadow. The New Englander’s presidency, however, was strong in its own right. He strove to maintain America’s neutrality and sovereignty, while at the same time strengthening America’s defenses in case he would be the first president to send troops into war. His greatest misstep was supporting the passage of the Alien and Sedition Acts to quell opposition. John Adams never cared for criticism, and his attempt to bypass civil liberties is still held as an example of what should never happen again.


Perhaps his most enduring legacy is the one he left in the White House. As its first occupant, he left a note with the following message that was then carved into the mantel of the State Dining Room: “I pray Heaven to bestow the best of Blessings on this House and all that shall hereafter inhabit it. May none but honest and wise Men ever rule under this roof.”
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THOMAS JEFFERSON


★ ★ ★ THIRD PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: April 13, 1743, at Shadwell, in Virginia


•   Died: July 4, 1826, at Monticello, in Virginia


NICKNAMES


•   Father of the Declaration of Independence, Sage of Monticello, Man of the People


RELIGION


•   Deist


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   College of William and Mary, 1762


PROFESSION


•   Lawyer, farmer


MILITARY SERVICE


•   Colonel, Virginia militia 1770–1779 (not in active service)


FAMILY


•   Father: Colonel Peter Jefferson (1708–1757)


•   Mother: Jane Randolph Jefferson (1720–1776)


•   Wife: Martha Wayles Skelton Jefferson (1748–1782); wed January 1, 1772, in Charles City County, Virginia


•   Children: Martha “Patsy” (1772–1836); Jane Randolph (1774–1775); an infant son, died at birth (1777); Mary “Maria” (1778–1804); Lucy Elizabeth (1780–1781); Lucy Elizabeth (1782–1785)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Member, Virginia House of Burgesses (1769–1774)


•   Delegate to the Continental Congress (1775–1776; 1783–1785)


•   Delegate to the Virginia House of Delegates (1776–1779)


•   Governor of Virginia (1779–1781)


•   Commissioner and minister to France (1784–1789)


•   Secretary of state (1790–1793)


•   Vice president (1797–1801)


PRESIDENCY


•   Two terms: March 4, 1801–March 4, 1809


•   Democratic-Republican


•   Reason for leaving office: completion of term


•   Vice presidents: Aaron Burr (1801–1805); George Clinton (1805–1809)


ELECTION OF 1800


•   Electoral vote: tied 73 with Aaron Burr (vice presidential candidate); won vote in House of Representatives. The deadlock led to passage of the Twelfth Amendment in 1804


•   Popular vote: none


ELECTION OF 1804


•   Electoral vote: Jefferson 162; Charles C. Pinckney 14


•   Popular vote: none





Thomas Jefferson amazed and astounded his contemporaries, and continues to do the same today. This paradoxical man was truly a pragmatic idealist who left his imprint of liberty on the new nation. Jefferson saw America’s future when it was still a patchwork of colonies; his eloquence inspired his countrymen to break from Britain; and he never lost hope in the darkest days of the Revolutionary War or when America took its first faltering steps as a truly independent nation. His was the dream of a nation founded on liberty; it is that ideal that guides America still.




CABINET


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







SECRETARY OF STATE


James Madison (1801–1809)


SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY


Samuel Dexter (1801)


Albert Gallatin (1801–1809)


SECRETARY OF WAR


Henry Dearborn (1801–1809)


ATTORNEY GENERAL


Levi Lincoln (1801–1804)


Robert Smith (1805)


John Breckinridge (1805–1806)


Caesar A. Rodney (1807–1809)


SECRETARY OF THE NAVY


Benjamin Stoddert (1801)


Robert Smith (1801–1809)


POSTMASTER GENERAL


Joseph Habersham (1801)


Gideon Granger (1801–1809)





EARLY LIFE


Peter Jefferson was descended from a long line of early Virginia settlers and was an established bachelor of thirty when he married nineteen-year-old Jane Randolph in 1739. Her family was considered one of the “FFVs” (First Families of Virginia), and she had lived most of her young life in England before returning to her father’s native land. The Jeffersons had two daughters before Peter moved his family to the edge of the Virginia wilderness and the foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains. He built a house he named Shadwell and there, on April 13, 1743, their first son was born. Thomas lived there his first two years, then Jane’s cousin William Randolph died and his will requested the Jeffersons move to his home in the Tidewater, called Tuckahoe, to care for his orphaned children. Thomas and his siblings (who arrived at frequent intervals) played and attended school with their Randolph cousins. Seven years later, when the Jefferson family was ready to return to Shadwell, nine-year-old Thomas was sent away to school. There he became grounded in classical languages and mathematics.


Peter Jefferson was often away on surveying expeditions, including one with Joshua Fry to map Virginia’s border with North Carolina. Peter Jefferson, from contemporary descriptions, was a huge bear of a man who was greatly admired by his oldest son. While fourteen-year-old Thomas was home on summer vacation in 1757, tragedy struck when Peter became gravely ill. He died in August, leaving behind eight children, including two-year-old twins. On his father’s deathbed, Thomas had promised to continue his schooling, and he did. He attended another parson’s school for the next three years, and then determined he was ready to attend the College of William and Mary in Williamsburg.


Thomas had never before been to such a large town. Williamsburg’s population was normally about fifteen hundred people, but when the House of Burgesses or the General Court met, the number doubled. The town boasted several taverns and often hosted touring theatrical companies. Young Jefferson was eager to be accepted into the College of William and Mary. He easily passed the entrance examinations and quickly fell in with a number of fellow students who later would serve in a variety of public offices with him. His college instructors were impressed by the exceptionally bright and extremely talented student, and soon Jefferson was included in gatherings at the Governor’s Palace. He would bring his violin and play in musical evenings with some of the colony’s most influential men, including the governor. Here, among this company, Thomas also gained valuable insight into the world of political leadership; it was the most instructive classroom he would ever attend.


After two years, Thomas decided to pursue a legal career. One of his musical cohorts, George Wythe, agreed to be his teacher, and for the next five years Jefferson read law, attended courts, and regularly met with Wythe. During this time, the colonies were beginning to exercise what they considered their rights as British subjects to oppose certain acts of Parliament, especially taxes. In May 1765, Wythe instructed his student to go to the capitol where the members of the House of Burgesses were debating their stance on the Stamp Act (p. 23). There in the doorway the tall redhead peered over the Burgesses to watch Patrick Henry (a member who had already won fame as a well-spoken attorney) incur the wrath of fellow members when he loudly voiced his opposition to Parliament and King George III in such strong terms that some Burgesses yelled “Treason! Treason!” To which Henry replied, “If this be treason, make the most of it!” Jefferson never forgot the spellbinding nature of Patrick Henry’s speech, who he later said, “spoke as Homer wrote,”1 nor would he ever be able to perform in such a manner himself, for public speaking was never his forte.
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In 1767, Jefferson passed the bar and became one of the few lawyers privileged to try cases before the General Court. Two years later he was elected to the House of Burgesses. As a young man with a budding career, Thomas decided it was time to begin building a house. For years he had studied books by various architects but most admired the designs by the sixteenth-century Italian architect Andrea Palladio. Years before, he had decided to eschew the common practice of the day to build one’s plantation home out of wood by a river. No, Jefferson wanted to be able to watch the weather and see the world sprawled out below him, so from the property he inherited from his father, he chose a mountaintop to construct his home out of brick. Building had scarcely begun when his birthplace, Shadwell, burned to the ground.


Work on his home, Monticello (Italian meaning “little mountain”), proceeded and picked up speed after he began courting Martha Wayles Skelton, a young Tidewater widow. From all accounts she was a vivacious, intelligent, and attractive woman who easily captured Jefferson’s heart. They married on January 1, 1772, and settled in to their very unfinished home; in September, they welcomed their first child, a daughter also named Martha (nicknamed Patsy). Two years later, another daughter, Jane, was born, and the Jeffersons contentedly spent their time at Monticello and visiting relatives.


Their idyllic world, though, was abruptly halted by events far away in Boston as actions by the Sons of Liberty (p. 24) caused strained relations with Britain. Other colonies also watched with ever-growing concern as an entire shipment of tea was dumped into the harbor during the Boston Tea Party (p. 25), and the resulting Intolerable (Coercive) Acts closed the port in retaliation. In 1774, after the Coercive Acts took effect, Jefferson wrote a pamphlet, “The Summary View of the Rights of British America,” which was published throughout the colonies, as well as in Great Britain. Thus, his name became associated with those liberals who were “fomenting rebellion,” although he insisted he wanted nothing more than continued association with the mother country.


REVOLUTIONARY


In 1775, Jefferson became a delegate to the Second Continental Congress (p. 8) in Philadelphia, serving with Patrick Henry, John and Samuel Adams, John Hancock, Benjamin Franklin, and others. He spent eighteen months splitting his time between Monticello and Philadelphia. The delegates admired what John Adams called his “felicity of expression,”2 and Adams went on to say that Jefferson was the best writer in Congress. Consequently, in June 1776, when a committee met to determine who would write the document outlining the reasons for the colonies’ separation from Great Britain, it was easily decided that Thomas Jefferson was best suited for the task. Seventeen days later, he had completed it, and was justifiably proud of his work. His colleagues, however, scrutinized the Declaration of Independence and made numerous changes to it, causing no small amount of discomfort to its writer. Still, he remained proud of his accomplishment and, fifty years later, would list it as one of only three achievements that he wished recorded on his tombstone.
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NOTES ON THE STATE OF VIRGINIA  ★  Jefferson’s answer to French diplomat François Marbois’s questions about Virginia is remarkable in its depth of information. Originally written in 1781 and republished in Paris in 1784 after being expanded, it is mainly devoted to a thorough geographical description of Jefferson’s native state, including its flora and fauna. Jefferson’s descriptions of the native and African populations as being inferior races illustrate that he, too, was a product of his time.





The Declaration of Independence still resounds today and is considered by many a masterpiece of written political expression. Jefferson, however, always insisted that the thoughts were not anything new, just bits and pieces of philosophy he had absorbed over the years, since his purpose was “to place before mankind the common sense of the subject, in terms so plain and firm as to command their assent.”3 Once he was finished, he raced home to Virginia to rejoin his family, as well as help with the drafting of the state constitution and the overhaul of its penal code.


One area of reform that Jefferson singled out for particular emphasis was that of religious freedom. Believing that the new state of Virginia would secure its liberty not only by breaking from its mother country, but from the Church of England as well, his Statutes on Religious Freedom aimed to create what is now known as “the separation of church and state.” The times, however, were not ready for such a radical movement, and it would be several years before the newly created Virginia Assembly approved it—thanks to the efforts of Jefferson’s protégé James Madison.


In 1779, Jefferson was elected to succeed Patrick Henry as governor of Virginia, so Thomas and his family moved to Williamsburg. Their stay was short-lived, for he and the Assembly believed that the state capital’s location should reflect the westward movement of its citizenry, so the following summer, all packed and moved to Richmond. The first months there passed peacefully, but the clouds of war, distant at first, now moved ever closer. During the first six months of 1781, the British invaded Virginia, leaving destruction in their wake and causing the Jefferson family to repeatedly pack and flee or risk being taken prisoner. This was too much for their infant daughter, who died in April, the third of the Jeffersons’ children to die in infancy.


The final flight occurred in June when the Assembly had adjourned to Charlottesville—the British decided to try to trap them, as well as the governor at his nearby mountaintop home. Jefferson barely escaped capture, but his reputation was not as lucky. By the end of the year, charges of cowardice and incompetence were flung at him and his seeming inability to handle the invasions adequately. Jefferson answered the charges but insisted to friends that his political career was done. Now he intended to retire to the comfort of his family, read his books and work on writing his own—Notes on the State of Virginia—and become a leisurely Virginia planter. In May 1782, Martha gave birth to their sixth child, Lucy Elizabeth, who joined her sisters Patsy and Mary (Polly). The deaths of her other three children, the flights from the British, and this last birth all took their toll, and Jefferson’s “cherished companion” who had shared ten years with him in “unchecquered happiness”4 died on September 6. His retirement plans instantly vanished. Hearing rumors of his friend’s depression and fearing for his mental well being, James Madison was spurred to secure a position for Jefferson in France.
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This position failed to materialize, but Jefferson did move—to Philadelphia—with ten-year-old Patsy and became a member of the Congress. There he threw himself into his labors and took particular interest in the development of the Northwest Territory (the land north and west of the Ohio River; current-day Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michigan, and Wisconsin). His efforts stood out in a congress populated by men of decidedly inferior abilities, but Jefferson remained, undoubtedly unwilling to return home where memories of his deceased wife were still fresh.


In 1784 the assignment in France finally came through; he was to depart for Paris, where he would be reunited with Benjamin Franklin and John Adams, developing commercial treaties between European powers and America. While serving in his capacity as minister to France, Jefferson also found time to travel to Italy and later, Great Britain, where he met King George III. During these travels, he enjoyed playing tourist, sightseeing at the usual stops and marveling at architecture that until then had only been sketches in his books; now his mind spun with possible ways he could implement these designs at Monticello.




SUPREME COURT APPOINTMENTS


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







William Johnson, 1804


Henry Brockholst Livingston, 1807


Thomas Todd, 1807





Attending the court of Louis XVI allowed Jefferson to witness firsthand the extravagances of European high society. Here he met the powerful, but remained decidedly unimpressed, so he toured the backcountry to meet the French people. He also reestablished his friendship with the Marquis de Lafayette, whom he had met during his governorship. The two soon were meeting with others who wished to replicate the success of America’s revolution in France. Before Jefferson’s departure late in 1789, France was on its way to revolution, but already the signs of violence and fervor, unparalleled in America’s revolution, were beginning to show.


From Philadelphia, James Madison wrote to his friend of the Constitutional Convention (p. 13) and, once their task was completed in September 1787, he forwarded a copy of the new Constitution. Jefferson devoured the document eagerly, but immediately became alarmed by the lack of a bill of rights. Protecting the people from their government was of paramount concern to him, and he found this omission unacceptable. Madison understood his distress and assured him that the problem could be rectified, but first the Constitution needed to be ratified.


SECRETARY OF STATE


Jefferson arrived home in December 1789, expecting to drop off his two daughters and then return to France, but to his surprise, a letter from President George Washington awaited him. In it he found his appointment to the position of secretary of state, which he accepted. Washington felt the best way to approach the presidency was to surround himself with knowledgeable men who could counsel him on the variety of topics that required his attention. In addition to Jefferson, he appointed old friend Henry Knox to secretary of war, fellow Virginian Edmund Randolph to attorney general, and of course, his former aide Alexander Hamilton as secretary of the treasury. Little did Washington know the powder keg he was about to ignite.
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STATE OF THE UNION


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







US POPULATION IN 1800


5,308,483


STATE ADMITTED TO UNION


Ohio, March 1, 1803





Hamilton and Jefferson disagreed philosophically about nearly every facet of the new government. Hamilton abhorred the idea of the people actually ruling themselves; instead, he thought they should be ruled by the elite and a strong central government. He wanted a moneyed class propped up by a growing industrial core, with cities developing as a result. On the other hand, Jefferson believed in the goodness of the common man and a society that allowed the people to be in control, with a weak central government allowing states more latitude. The two men made cabinet meetings a debating exercise—and often a great trial to the president’s patience.


The pressing financial issues now facing the country were of deep concern for both Washington and Hamilton. Toward this end, the secretary of the treasury fashioned a series of proposals to gradually pay America’s multi-million dollar debt and to secure a sound foundation for its future finances. Much of this involved bonds issued during the Revolution by the states, and Hamilton wanted the national government to assume these debts. Since most southern states had already retired their debts, the idea of repaying other states’—northern states’—bonds was an entirely unwelcome proposition. Enter Virginians Madison and Jefferson, who were also looking toward the debate regarding the site of the new nation’s capital. Over dinner, the three men agreed to support each other: Hamilton’s debt assumption would be passed, and the south would gain the new capital. Hamilton’s next plan, however, could not be addressed so easily.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Jefferson is on the nickel and the two dollar bill.





Believing that one of the primary building blocks of a new national economy would be the establishment of a national bank, Hamilton asked Congress to charter it. Immediately, Jefferson and Madison voiced strenuous opposition. Nowhere in the Constitution did it mention such a bank; therefore, it was unconstitutional, they argued. Hamilton pointed to Article 1 allowing Congress the authority to do whatever was “necessary and proper,” thus beginning the debate between strict and loose interpretation of the Constitution, with Washington as referee. Ultimately he sided with Hamilton, as did Congress. The national bank was established and would continue until the administration of Andrew Jackson (p. 82).


The French Revolution (p. 15) created yet another rift in Washington’s cabinet. Britain and its European allies fought France as they attempted to contain the ideas of revolution, and both sides attempted to ensnare the help of the United States by creating problems for the young nation. Hamilton still supported the British, in spite of the fact that they encouraged their Indian allies in the Northwest Territory to attack settlers. Jefferson, meanwhile, maintained his faith in the French people and their desire for liberty, even though news of the extreme violence waged daily in France frightened many Americans. Again in the uncomfortable middle, Washington chose not to side with either nation, as tilting either way could lead to war. Instead, he selected neutrality, which he fervently hoped would keep the United States at peace and away from the conflict that would soon enmesh Europe in decades of war.


Exhausted by the continual struggle to win the president’s opinion (and usually failing in the attempt), Jefferson determined that it was time to retire. He wanted to oversee the renovations at Monticello and enjoy his new role as Grandpapa, so in 1793 he resigned and went home to Virginia.
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FIRST RETIREMENT


While completely removed from the political scene, Jefferson was far from forgotten. Differences between Hamilton and Jefferson had drawn battle lines for not only themselves, but their followers as well. In fact, these differences created the country’s first two-party system. Washington decried its formation and worried that it could spell the demise of the nation by creating such division. The Federalist Party advocated Hamilton’s ideas, and in 1796 when President Washington refused to run for a third time, they proposed John Adams for president. The Democratic-Republicans, anxious to gain the presidency, ran their founder Thomas Jefferson. According to the Constitution, whoever won the most electoral votes became president and the second highest became vice president. Thus John Adams became the second president and his mismatched vice president was Jefferson.


VICE PRESIDENT


Jefferson took the main duty of vice president seriously—to preside over the Senate. Believing that the senators needed guidelines for their daily business, the vice president undertook writing the Manual of Parliamentary Practice, which soon became the rule book for both houses of Congress and remains so today.


Starting with Washington’s treatment of Adams, presidents historically did not allow their vice presidents into their confidence or even into their cabinet meetings. At a time when the two top officials of the government were from opposite parties, meetings between the men were usually rather cold. Although Jefferson and Adams had been friends during the Revolution and their time in Europe, more recent events had severed that friendship. Jefferson’s pro-France stance came under attack with the disclosure of the XYZ Affair (p. 27). This involved demands by French officials (referred to by President Adams as Misters X, Y, and Z) for bribes from the American representatives. News of this shocked the nation, and Americans took to the streets yelling, “Millions for defense, but not one cent for tribute!” which put Jefferson and his pro-French party on the defensive.




NEW FOODS  ★  Jefferson brought a taste of Europe to America when he returned after his five years in France. New foods to the American palate included vanilla ice cream, macaroni, figs, fried potatoes, anchovies, and broccoli. Jefferson also became a connoisseur of wines, and by the time he was president, over seven thousand dollars was spent on that item alone during his first term.





Concerns regarding America’s security grew, and Adams and the Federalist-controlled Congress passed two sets of bills collectively known as the Alien and Sedition Acts (p. 27). Under the Alien Act, citizenship requirements were tightened to prevent foreigners from gaining those rights too quickly. It also allowed the president to deport people he believed were a threat to national security. Causing greater consternation to Jefferson and his fellow Republicans was the Sedition Act, which curtailed first amendment rights of freedom of press and speech, making it illegal to publish or speak out against the Adams administration, although criticisms of the vice president were allowed. Jefferson and his good friend James Madison immediately collaborated to derail this outrageous legislation. Jefferson’s Kentucky Resolutions, followed by Madison’s Virginia Resolutions, argued that since the federal government was a collection of states, those states had the “final judgment” of any laws and could nullify any they deemed harmful or unconstitutional. The principles of these resolutions were virtually ignored by the other states; however, they would be resurrected years later by southerners to bolster their arguments favoring states rights and nullification. The Alien and Sedition Acts would be revoked for their unconstitutionality when Jefferson’s administration took office.
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Jefferson was the first president to be inaugurated in Washington, D.C.





ELECTION OF 1800


Jefferson and his party were now more determined than ever to win the presidency. Although presidents and vice presidents did not yet run as a single ticket, it was well understood that Jefferson was the Democratic-Republican’s top candidate with New York’s Aaron Burr as his running mate. When the votes were counted, to John Adams’s embarrassment, he took third place, but Jefferson and Burr were tied at seventy-three votes apiece in the Electoral College. Now Aaron Burr saw an opportunity to win the highest position and availed himself the opportunity by refusing to step aside.


Americans viewed the unfolding drama with apprehension and concern. The next stop for the election was the House of Representatives. The House voted thirty-five times, and for thirty-five times it tied. The country feared the deadlock could go on indefinitely with no president chosen. Federalists composed the majority of House members, and none particularly liked their choices; but as nearly a week dragged on, more became convinced that Jefferson would be the better man. Finally on February 17, 1801, Thomas Jefferson was officially declared the winner of the 1800 election, and he took office three weeks later.


Keenly aware of the extremely close contest, Jefferson’s inauguration speech spoke of reconciliation. “We are all Republicans, we are all Federalists. If there be any among us who would wish to dissolve this Union or to change its republican form, let them stand undisturbed as monuments of the safety with which error of opinion may be tolerated where reason is left free to combat it.” For his audience, the speech was already printed, since his voice could scarcely be heard past the first few rows. Desiring to illustrate his Republican philosophy, Jefferson walked from his boardinghouse to the capitol for his inauguration, the first to be held in the capital city of Washington. John Adams, however, did not remain for his successor’s ceremony, provoking many to speculate that the snub was a case of sour grapes.


PRESIDENT


Once he moved in to the President’s House, which had just been completed the previous year, Jefferson’s contradictory nature became even more pronounced. He received ambassadors in threadbare carpet slippers and dressing gown but entertained guests with French cuisine served by slaves. He and his secretary, Meriwether Lewis, found their new home rather cold and austere, so Jefferson soon began imploring his daughters and their families to come for visits. Both sons-in-law moved into the President’s House when they came to Washington as Virginia congressmen.


With an eye to cutting the budget, the new president assigned Lewis, who was still a commissioned army officer, the task of reducing the military. He also made good his campaign promise to cut taxes on items produced domestically, thus ending the hated whiskey tax originally levied during Washington’s administration (p. 2). Many Federalists were kept on in the administration, but one group posed a particular dilemma for Jefferson and his new secretary of state James Madison.
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On the last night of his presidency, John Adams worked late into the night signing judicial appointments, so while the Republicans might control two branches of government, the Federalists would still retain power over the judiciary. Some of these appointments were delivered before the exchange of power, but some were not. One who did not receive his appointment was William Marbury, who then filed suit with the Supreme Court to force the new government to grant his commission. Writing the Court’s opinion was its chief justice and Adams appointee John Marshall. In Marbury v. Madison, Marshall argued that the Judiciary Act of 1789 allowing Congress to create the courts was unconstitutional. So while Jefferson won the battle of Marbury’s appointment, he lost the war of judicial power, for in this one decision, Marshall extended the power of the Supreme Court dramatically by granting it the power of judicial review—determining whether laws are constitutional.


Another task for secretary Lewis to deal with was Richmond newspaper publisher James Callender, who had languished almost a year in jail after being charged with violating the Sedition Act when he referred to President Adams as a British spy. In an earlier and even more preposterous charge, Callender had insisted that Washington (whom he referred to as a “scandalous hypocrite”) had “authorized the robbery and ruin of his own army.”5 As a loyal supporter of Jefferson, the publisher demanded the position of postmaster, which President Jefferson refused, but the president agreed to forward Callender a partial payment for his $200 fine. Upset by only receiving $50, Callender threatened to expose Jefferson’s “secrets” to the world unless he received more money. Unwilling to be blackmailed, Jefferson ignored Callender.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Jefferson and John Marshall, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, 1801–1835, were second cousins once removed—Marshall’s great-grandfather and Jefferson’s grandfather were brothers.





By now the former Republican publisher worked for the opposition and he set his poisonous pen against the president. Soon Callender was printing stories of Tom and his “dusky Sally”—tales of the president’s longtime slave mistress, Sally Hemings at Monticello. Jefferson never publicly addressed the charges, insisting that to answer one would merely cause his enemies to circulate new ones. His political foes believed that the widower kept a slave concubine, while his friends decried the tales as lies. According to the Hemings family, the story was true and Jefferson was the father of Sally’s four children. The Jefferson family maintained that the story was false, and that cousins of theirs were the actual fathers of Hemings’ children. In 1998, a DNA study proved that a Jefferson (others lived in the vicinity and frequently visited Monticello)—but not necessarily Thomas—was the father of at least one of the Hemings children. The study did, however, conclusively prove that Thomas Woodson, who tradition says was conceived in Paris, was not a Jefferson descendant. In 1803, a drunken Callender drowned in three feet of water, but his reporting would continue to stir controversy for centuries.


Jefferson worked to reduce the size of the military and, ironically, became the first president to send American troops to foreign soil to fight. For years the Barbary states of North Africa (Tripolitania (now Libya), Tunisia, Algeria, and Morocco) demanded tribute of any nation desiring to use the Mediterranean Sea. For safe passage of their vessels, all obliged. Then Tripoli announced it wanted more; Jefferson refused, and Tripoli declared war. In 1803, the American ship Philadelphia was seized by the pirates, its guns turned against other American vessels, and its crew held for ransom. The following year, Lieutenant Stephen Decatur boldly sailed into the port and set the ship on fire. Other American ships soon aided in what became the First Barbary War, and in 1805, Tripoli agreed to end the fighting and its tribute; in exchange a ransom of $60,000 was paid for the crew of the Philadelphia.
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LOUISIANA


As more Americans moved to the fertile lands of Kentucky, Tennessee, and the Northwest Territory, transportation of their produce became an increasingly important issue. With roads across the Appalachians scarcely more than paths, farmers found river transportation much more efficient in terms of both time and money. Using the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, then transferring to ships at New Orleans where their goods could then be sent either to the east coast or beyond was their preferred choice. During Washington’s administration, Spain had closed New Orleans, but negotiations had reopened that port; however, alarm spread with the news that the entire Louisiana Territory had been transferred from Spain to France, one of the prizes of war gained by Napoleon when he conquered Spain. No one faced the threat of having Napoleon as its new neighbor with more trepidation than the American president. He determined that America must own that key piece of real estate—New Orleans. James Monroe was dispatched to France to aid American minister to France Robert Livingston in purchasing the port, as well as West Florida.




NAPOLEON BONAPARTE (1769–1821)  ★  By the time of the Louisiana Purchase in 1803, Napoleon was thirty-four years old, a famed military commander, conqueror, and recently proclaimed consul for life in France. At this time, his country enjoyed a respite from war, but bills—from previous conflicts in Europe and his defeat in Egypt—accumulated. Following slave uprisings in Santo Domingo, which prompted his troops to withdraw, Napoleon gave up his dream of creating an empire in North America, making the purchase of the Louisiana Territory negotiable.





Just prior to Monroe’s arrival, the French made the unbelievable offer to sell New Orleans and the vast Louisiana Territory beyond it. Unsure of what to do next, the two negotiators conferred with each other and hastily contacted bankers, since they had only been authorized to spend $10 million. Acting in the belief that the president and their countrymen would heartily approve, the two Americans successfully negotiated the purchase of the Louisiana Territory, including New Orleans (but not, as it turned out, West Florida) for the price of $15 million, which worked out to three cents an acre.


Once Jefferson heard of the acquisition, he was thrilled but also concerned about the constitutionality of purchasing territory. He prepared a constitutional amendment in case the Senate had qualms, but he did not need to fear—the Senate ratified the treaty 26–5. Doubling the United States would be considered the greatest achievement of Jefferson’s presidency, but he would point with equal pride to the expedition that not only explored this new territory, but the land west to the Pacific Ocean as well. For at least twenty years, Thomas Jefferson had dreamed of sending an expedition to map this uncharted wilderness. He had contacted Revolutionary hero George Rogers Clark in the 1780s. His frontier and leadership skills were well known, and although Clark was interested in the mission, plans never materialized. Others were contemplated as well, but nothing happened until Jefferson was president.
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Early in 1803—and before the Louisiana Purchase—Jefferson secured a budget of $2,500 to send a military expedition west. Meriwether Lewis was made its leader with the rank of captain, and Lewis appointed his former army superior William Clark as his co-captain. Ironically, Clark was the youngest brother of George Rogers.


Excited by the prospect of acquiring knowledge about all facets of the west, Jefferson instructed Lewis as to the types of information gathering he expected, including maps, and notes on the flora and fauna, soil, weather, and of course, the natives they encountered, who were to be treated “in the most friendly & conciliatory manner which their own conduct will admit.”6 Laying a foundation for peaceful trading among them was vital to the expedition’s success, as well as the country’s future as its people moved westward.


The Lewis and Clark expedition, officially known as the Corps of Discovery, pushed off from St. Louis at six a.m. on May 22, 1804, and began the journey up the Missouri River. Jefferson anxiously awaited hearing from Captain Lewis, who apparently neglected to write as frequently as his commander desired. But the following spring, ten members of the Corps returned and ensured that the president received journals from the captains and a wide variety of specimens both animal and botanical. Jefferson pored over the map of the Missouri River and the accounts of the expedition’s relations with various native tribes. About a year later, Jefferson would be reunited with the co-captains and hear firsthand of their adventures and discoveries.


SECOND TERM


Jefferson won reelection in 1804, easily defeating Charles Pinckney, but this time his vice president would be George Clinton rather than Aaron Burr. Earlier in 1804, Burr had determined that his political fortune was being thwarted by his lowly status as vice president, so he announced he was running for governor of New York. This immediately set Alexander Hamilton into a fury, working feverishly to deny him the title. Burr suspected his old rival was badmouthing him, and wrote to Hamilton demanding the truth. Hamilton affirmed he had said something unflattering about Burr, so Burr countered with a challenge. Again Hamilton acquiesced, setting the stage for what became a historical duel. The two men met early on July 11 in Weehawken, New Jersey. There Burr fired a fatal bullet that not only killed Hamilton but Burr’s political future as well.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Jefferson was the first president to shake hands instead of bowing to others as a form of greeting.





Burr did little to help himself when he traveled westward to seek support for his scheme to seize land in the Louisiana Territory to either use as a base to attack Spanish territory if the United States went to war with that nation or create his own country. Which plan he truly intended is still unknown as he spread contradictory tidbits of information to a wide variety of people, including Andrew Jackson, during his intrigues. Burr conspired with General James Wilkinson, a double-dealer who earlier had worked for the Spanish by passing on information regarding the movements of the Corps of Discovery. Wilkinson now blew the whistle on Burr, who was soon arrested on charges of treason.


The grand jury convened in Richmond, Virginia, in May 1807. Chief Justice John Marshall presided and well-known orator Luther Martin headed Burr’s defense team. The prosecution would fight an uphill battle to win conviction, for its judge was vehemently opposed to the president, and many had been outraged when the president pronounced belief in Burr’s guilt. Was not the accused innocent before being proven guilty? Martin in his defense of Burr compared Wilkinson to Satan, and the prosecution soon found themselves defending the administration more than actually prosecuting Burr. The defense asked and received Marshall’s permission to subpoena the president and/or his papers regarding the case. Jefferson insisted the district attorney had the necessary papers, and as to attending the court in Richmond, he politely but firmly refused: “To comply with such calls would leave the nation without an executive branch . . . the sole branch which the constitution requires to be always in function.”7 Ultimately Aaron Burr was acquitted, much to the president’s dismay and embarrassment, but to the pleasure and delight of both Burr and Marshall. Jefferson had little time to dwell on defeat, for international events threatened the peace at home.
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Jefferson wrote almost 20,000 letters in his lifetime.





PROBLEMS WITH BRITAIN


In June 1807, US ship Chesapeake was boarded by the British ship Leopard after being fired on, and four members of its crew were taken; three were Americans. Outrage spewed from American citizens demanding war against Britain. Jefferson, however, knew the country was in no condition to fight and pledged to retaliate with economic measures. Before the year was out, an embargo forbid American ships from sailing into foreign ports, and foreign ships were not allowed to trade in America. Expecting France and Great Britain to be especially stung by the economic sanctions, Jefferson believed the embargo would bring them to the negotiating table.


Unexpectedly, the ones most hurt by the embargo were Americans—shippers, sailors, farmers, planters—nearly all were victims of ships sitting and rotting in their berths. The national income dropped by over 50 percent, and increased trade with Russia fell far short of making up the difference. Americans decried the ruin they faced; consequently, before leaving office, Jefferson cancelled his embargo, and soon another took effect, which only prohibited trade between America and the two offending nations. Unfortunately, no embargo would prevent the march toward war, but Jefferson finished his term before actual fighting began. His secretary of state and good friend James Madison would inherit the impending crisis.


Anxious to be released from “the shackles of power,”8 Jefferson relaxed at James Madison’s inaugural ball, packed, and soon left Washington, never to return.


RETIREMENT AT LAST


Once he arrived at Monticello, he enveloped himself in the outdoors and spent most daylight hours tending his farm. He wrote the change brought him great happiness, as did the time he spent with his family. Unfortunately, his beautiful daughter Maria died in April 1804, leaving an infant daughter and a son. His older daughter Martha had married her cousin, Thomas Mann Randolph, and they had become parents to eleven children. Jefferson insisted the Randolphs live at Monticello, and so they did, much to his son-in-law’s consternation.


Jefferson loved children and for years had worked on plans for educating the young, as he believed a democracy required an educated electorate. His crowning achievement of his retirement years would be the creation of a new state college—the University of Virginia. Jefferson oversaw every minute detail, from ensuring it was located in nearby Charlottesville, to determining its curriculum and selecting its faculty. As building progressed, he often traversed down the mountain to supervise construction; other times, he viewed it through his telescope from Monticello. Finally the long-awaited day arrived and the doors opened to greet the first students in 1825. Jefferson sometimes invited small groups of students to Monticello for dinner and conversation; perhaps one of his guests included seventeen-year-old Edgar Allen Poe, who matriculated there for most of 1826.
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Being in debt had been a way of life for Jefferson since the Revolution, but over the years, it threatened to take his most prized possession—Monticello. With the burning of the Library of Congress during the War of 1812 (p. 54), he saw an opportunity to relieve some of his debt, as well as help his dear nation. He sold his extensive library of over 6,500 volumes to the government, which then formed the nucleus for today’s Library of Congress collection. Since Jefferson could never be long without books, he soon began assembling a new library.


By this time, a reconciliation had occurred between Jefferson and John Adams. A mutual friend, Dr. Benjamin Rush, succeeded in encouraging the two men to begin a correspondence. (Several years before, Jefferson and Abigail Adams had a brief correspondence after his daughter Maria’s death, but John Adams was not involved.) This they began tentatively at first, but as the letters went back and forth, the wall that had separated them for so many years came down. They chatted about family matters as well as national news; they reminisced and posed questions to each other. Would you live your life over again? When Abigail Adams died, Jefferson wrote a note of consolation, which Adams gladly accepted. Thus both were in each other’s thoughts as the fiftieth anniversary of the Declaration of Independence approached.


Neither could leave home to celebrate; in fact, on July 4, 1826, both men breathed their last. The last words of John Adams were “Thomas Jefferson still survives.”9 Unbeknownst to him, his dear friend had died a few hours before. Unable to get out of bed for the previous days, Jefferson willed himself to live until the fourth and continually asked his grandson and namesake if it was the fourth yet. Finally it was affirmed, and Jefferson seemed relieved. He died at 9:50 a.m. that morning and was buried the following day in the graveyard at Monticello beside his wife and daughter Maria.


Jefferson’s tombstone bore the epitaph he desired: a list of accomplishments he most wished to be remembered for and “not a word more”:


Here was buried


Thomas Jefferson


Author of the Declaration of Independence


of the Statute of Virginia for religious freedom & Father


of the University of Virginia.10
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JAMES MADISON


★ ★ ★ FOURTH PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: March 16, 1751, in Port Conway, Virginia


•   Died: June 28, 1836, at Montpelier, in Virginia


NICKNAME


•   Father of the Constitution


RELIGION


•   Episcopalian


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   College of New Jersey (now Princeton), 1772


PROFESSION


•   Politician


MILITARY SERVICE


•   Colonel, Virginia militia 1775–1776 (not in active service)


FAMILY


•   Father: James Madison (1723–1801)


•   Mother: Eleanor “Nelly” Rose Conway (1731–1829)


•   Wife: Dolley Payne Todd Madison (1768–1849) a widow with a son; wed September 15, 1794, in Jefferson County, Virginia


•   Stepchild: John Payne Todd (1792–1852)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Member of the Virginia Constitutional Convention (1776)


•   Member of the Continental Congress (1780–1783)


•   Member of the Virginia legislature (1784–1786)


•   Member of the Constitutional Convention (1787)


•   US representative (1789–1797)


•   Secretary of state (1801–1809)


PRESIDENCY


•   Two terms: March 4, 1809–March 4, 1817


•   Democratic-Republican


•   Reason for leaving office: completion of term


•   Vice presidents: George Clinton (1809–1812), died while in office; Elbridge Gerry (1813–1814), died while in office


ELECTION OF 1808


•   Electoral vote: Madison 122; Charles C. Pinckney 47


•   Popular vote: none


ELECTION OF 1812


•   Electoral vote: Madison 128; DeWitt Clinton 89


•   Popular vote: none





“Little Jemmy,” as his friends called him, stood less than five feet four inches and holds the title of America’s shortest president. Always sickly, he would endure one of the worst events imaginable for any chief executive—foreign invasion. For the first time in our history, a war was given the president’s name: Mr. Madison’s War. Other presidents, including Lincoln, would also bear the burden of war, but only James Madison stood in the charred ruins of the capital city and encouraged the town’s citizenry to rebuild. In the weary days of the War of 1812, James Madison stood taller than many successors, taking history’s disastrous events and transforming them into opportunities for the new nation.




CABINET


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







SECRETARY OF STATE


Robert Smith (1809–1811)


James Monroe (1811–1817)


SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY


Albert Gallatin (1809–1814)


George W. Campbell (Feb.–Oct. 1814)


Alexander Dallas (1814–1816)


William H. Crawford (1816–1819)


SECRETARY OF WAR


William Eustis (1809–1812)


John Armstrong (1813–1814)


James Monroe (1814–1815); briefly served dually as Secretary of State and War


William H. Crawford (1815–1816)


ATTORNEY GENERAL


Caesar A. Rodney (1809–1811)


William Pinckney (1811–1814)


Richard Rush (1814–1817)


SECRETARY OF THE NAVY


Paul Hamilton (1809–1812)


William Jones (1813–1814)


Benjamin Crowninshield (1815–1817)





EARLY LIFE


James Madison was born March 16, 1751, the oldest of James and Nelly Conway Madison’s seven children. Their plantation, Montpelier, was located in Orange County, Virginia, near the eastern edge of the Blue Ridge Mountains. James Madison Sr. was a leading member of Orange County’s citizenry, as well as its principal landholder. For several years he supervised the construction of Montpelier. By age eleven, young James was sent to school in King and Queen County under the tutelage of Donald Robertson. Robertson taught Madison the normal curriculum of mathematics, philosophy, languages, history, and geography. Then for two years, he studied under a tutor as preparation for college. Madison pondered where to continue his education.


After considering various schools, including the College of William and Mary, Madison decided to attend the College of New Jersey (now Princeton University) and was admitted as a sophomore. There he came under the leadership of its new president, John Witherspoon. While at Princeton, Madison met other young men who demonstrated an interest in public affairs; they met and formed the American Whig Society. He participated in arguments and developed an interest in the law. Madison embraced his studies and worked feverishly to complete them in a short stretch of time. Leaving little time for sleep and recreation, his health suffered, but he still completed his coursework in two years and graduated in 1772. He remained in town and briefly studied Hebrew and ethics as the beginnings of a career in the clergy. That thought soon faded, and he returned to Montpelier.


Once home, Madison considered becoming a lawyer; after all, he had already read many of the works considered a necessity for its study. But soon that passion faded as well. His health remained poor, so the young man apparently grew melancholy as he pondered his fate. Uncertain of his future, he remained home and worked with his father managing the estate. Soon, events would determine the young man’s destiny.


REVOLUTIONARY DELEGATE


By 1774, James Madison had made his choice—he would work to aid those wanting independence from Great Britain. He joined the Committee of Safety (local organizations that followed people and activities in the days leading up to the Revolution). Although Madison became a colonel in the Orange County militia, he never actually saw military duty because of his frequent bouts of poor health. Nevertheless, plenty of other tasks required the attention of someone with knowledge of the law and time to work on creating a new state government for Virginia. Elected as a member to the Virginia House of Delegates in 1776, he soon caught the attention of Thomas Jefferson, newly returned from Philadelphia and drafting the Declaration of Independence. The two men met frequently and became best friends. No topic was beyond their discussion, and they often enjoyed a game of chess. Their friendship would continue uninterrupted the rest of their lives. Even then, Jefferson asked for Madison to “take care of me when dead.”1
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As a member of the Virginia Convention, Madison served on a committee drafting a declaration of rights, as well as the framework for their new state government. Once the new state constitution went into effect, the delegates stood for reelection. Madison decided not to continue the time-honored practice of serving whiskey to constituents on Election Day; his opponent won.


Nevertheless, Madison would not remain idle for long because within months, he was appointed to the Council of State for Governor Patrick Henry. Eight councilors served as advisors to the governor. Madison’s first act was agreeing to respond to General Washington’s desperate plea that food and provisions be sent posthaste to Valley Forge. Oftentimes the council met six days a week, and since the Assembly (the lower house of Virginia’s legislative branch) was frequently not in session, more demands on the councilors’ time were made. Madison grew increasingly unhappy with this type of leadership and called the council “the grave of all useful talents.”2 Although he relished working with Governor Thomas Jefferson, he dutifully relinquished the chains of councilor for those of a congressional delegate when he was appointed in 1780.


CONGRESSMAN


Even though he was the youngest member of Congress, Madison quickly impressed others with his diligence and hard work. Committee appointments, including the Admiralty Board, were soon his. Besides the ongoing demands of attempting to coordinate the war effort, the single major issue confronting the young Virginian was the matter of western land claims. The conflicting claims from various states threatened the already tenuous union. The matter required resolution before the Articles of Confederation would be ratified by the affected states. Madison understood the need to compromise for the greater good and worked diligently to win approval for Virginia to cede its claims to the country in return for its demands. It took the greater part of his four-year tenure to accomplish this, but ultimately his efforts gained the desired results and the states relinquished their disputed territories to the country to keep the peace.


Also while in Philadelphia, the thirty-year-old bachelor did the unexpected and fell in love with a young lady half his age. He pursued Kitty Floyd, daughter of a New York delegate, and seemingly, his affections were returned. He finally proposed; she accepted, and he hastened to make wedding plans. After a three-month engagement, the young lady’s mind changed and she decided to wed another fellow closer in age. Madison accepted defeat, and probably assumed he would remain a bachelor for the rest of his life.


VIRGINIAN


Returning to Virginia in 1784 and elected to the Virginia House of Delegates, Madison quickly found himself immersed in state politics. Now debate raged over the question of the separation of church and state. Madison had worked previously with mentor Thomas Jefferson, but the proposal had stalled. Patrick Henry led the supporters of a religion tax to support a state church. After encountering opposition, Henry backtracked and suggested supporting teaching the “Christian religion.”3 Still considering this an offense to religious liberty, Madison continued to battle the famed speaker. Madison could not match Patrick Henry’s impressive oratory, but he could defeat him with persuasive logic, and eventually he won passage of Jefferson’s Statutes for Religious Freedom.
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FEDERALIST PAPERS (1787–1788)  ★  The Federalist Papers were a series of eighty-five essays written by Alexander Hamilton, John Jay, and James Madison under the pseudonym Publius. Each paper argued in favor of the newly written Constitution and was published as a means to answer critics before state ratification conventions met. Hamilton and Madison drafted the majority of articles, which are still read today as fine examples of classic rhetoric.





Following the Revolution, the nation faced new challenges that were as threatening as those during the war. Neither foreign nor interstate commerce were addressed in the Articles of Confederation (p. 26), thus creating problems whenever states disagreed on such matters. Britain closed its West Indian ports to the new nation, and Spain closed New Orleans and its right of deposit, which allowed American ships to use its port. Closer to home, Virginia and Maryland entertained divergent views about navigation rights on the Potomac River. Worried about such a conflict growing in scope, Madison agreed to attend an assembly in Annapolis to examine the trade issue. Although disappointed that only twelve delegates from five states attended, the men still agreed to have another meeting, with invitations sent to all thirteen states to assemble in May 1787 in Philadelphia to discuss problems with the current government and possible changes to the Articles of Confederation. Seizing upon the critical importance of the occasion, Madison stopped at Mount Vernon on his return to Virginia to urge Washington to attend the upcoming Philadelphia assembly. Although delegates would be elected, Madison knew if Washington agreed to have his name submitted, he would undoubtedly be selected. Then, he reasoned, news of Washington’s attendance would create interest among the other states, and hopefully, a higher caliber of leaders would then be sent to Philadelphia. Madison’s plan worked perfectly, and when the Constitutional Convention (p. 13) began, the delegates immediately elected George Washington as its chairman.


FATHER OF THE CONSTITUTION


The first to arrive in Philadelphia, Madison rented his normal lodging and began developing his thoughts of a new government. Other Virginia delegates soon joined him, and they assisted formulating what became known as the Virginia Plan. Immediately the stage was set: this convention would not simply revise the Articles of Confederation; instead, a new government would emerge. Nevertheless, some delegates remained unconvinced by Madison’s ideas of a stronger central government, especially granting more representation proportional to population. Small states balked, and eventually, the “Great Compromise” was offered, creating the Senate and the House of Representatives. His ideas for a strong executive branch as well as a national judiciary found their way into the Constitution. Madison’s role did not end with proposals and debate; from the first day, he sat himself at the front and took copious notes of the debates in his private shorthand. Then he labored long into the night, writing his notes into longhand. These notes allow modern-day historians and readers a chance to peel back the curtain and watch the proceedings of that unbearably hot summer of 1787.
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Although somewhat dismayed by the compromises necessary for the Constitution to be borne from the convention, Madison soon ascertained the critical need to plead its cause, as its ratification became a source of debate throughout the young nation. Since Madison’s oratorical skills were limited, he turned to the quill to voice his thoughts. He joined with fellow New York delegates Alexander Hamilton and, to a lesser extent, John Jay to draft a series of essays under pseudonyms, defending the Constitution and the reasons why it was so sorely needed. The Federalist Papers played an invaluable part in appealing to the logical arguments for the new government. Still, Madison faced a worthy adversary during the ratification convention in his home state when Patrick Henry led the opposition, wielding his fiery oratory to win the emotions of his audience. Madison stood to oppose the legend and countered with reasoned rational arguments, much as he had during the convention’s debates where Georgia delegate William Pierce said of Madison that though he “cannot be called an Orator . . . He is a most agreeable, eloquent, and convincing Speaker. From a spirit of industry and application which he possesses in a most eminent degree, he always comes forward the best informed Man of any point in debate.”4 Many a seasoned lawyer had lost a case to Patrick Henry because he outshone them in bombastic delivery, but James Madison held his ground and won the prize— Virginia’s ratification of the Constitution. Due to his herculean efforts before, during, and after the Constitutional Convention, he gained the title “Father of the Constitution.”




SUPREME COURT APPOINTMENTS


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Joseph Story, 1811


Gabriel Duval, 1812





PUTTING THE CONSTITUTION INTO PRACTICE


Still smarting over his defeat, Patrick Henry pounced on a chance to avenge himself and worked to ensure Madison did not win a place in the new Senate. Undaunted, Madison simply returned to his Orange County home and won a seat in the US House of Representatives instead.


When Madison took office in 1789, he worked tirelessly in Congress to pilot through the one missing component of the Constitution—a bill of rights. The first ten amendments were ratified in 1791. Madison was also anxious about the nation’s economy and worked to stabilize it. At first he and Secretary of the Treasury Alexander Hamilton were of similar minds, but over time, their ideas diverged. When Hamilton proposed the assumption of state debts by the federal government, meaning that some states such as Virginia would be required to pay the debt twice, Madison vehemently objected. While he fought Hamilton’s plans in Congress, his old friend and now secretary of state Thomas Jefferson opposed them in the cabinet. The two Virginians fought vigorously but lost every fight. Their views, however, formed the basis of a new political party, the Democratic-Republicans.


Madison joined forces with Jefferson throughout the remainder of Washington’s term, as well as during the presidency of John Adams. When the Alien and Sedition Acts (p. 27) were passed to quell opposition to government policies, the two friends launched a resonating salvo known as the Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions. Madison wrote the first, arguing that the Alien and Sedition Acts were unconstitutional; therefore, they should be nullified by the states. Although their arguments were not widely adopted, southern states later proudly used these resolutions as the foundation for their states’ rights position against northern tariffs.
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BILL OF RIGHTS


One of the main arguments by those opposed to the Constitution was the lack of a bill of rights. Madison promised to rectify the situation, and in June 1789, he proposed twelve amendments. Congress made a few changes and ultimately accepted ten; these became the Bill of Rights. The first two proposed amendments, which concerned the number of constituents for each Representative and the compensation of Congressmen, were not ratified.


FIRST AMENDMENT  ★   Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances.


SECOND AMENDMENT  ★   A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed.


THIRD AMMENDMENT  ★   No Soldier shall, in time of peace be quartered in any house, without the consent of the Owner, nor in time of war, but in a manner to be prescribed by law.


FOURTH AMENDMENT  ★   The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.


FIFTH AMENDMENT  ★   No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.


SIXTH AMENDMENT  ★   In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.


SEVENTH AMENDMENT  ★   In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise reexamined in any Court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.


EIGHTH AMENDMENT  ★   Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.


NINTH AMENDMENT  ★   The enumeration in the Constitution, of certain rights, shall not be construed to deny or disparage others retained by the people.


TENTH AMENDMENT  ★   The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to the people.


The two amendments that were not ratified:


ARTICLE THE FIRST . . . After the first enumeration required by the first article of the Constitution, there shall be one Representative for every thirty thousand, until the number shall amount to one hundred, after which the proportion shall be so regulated by Congress, that there shall be not less than one hundred Representatives, nor less than one Representative for every forty thousand persons, until the number of Representatives shall amount to two hundred; after which the proportion shall be so regulated by Congress, that there shall not be less than two hundred Representatives, nor more than one Representative for every fifty thousand persons.


ARTICLE THE SECOND . . . No law, varying the compensation for the services of the Senators and Representatives, shall take effect, until an election of Representatives shall have intervened.
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







James Madison has the title of being the shortest president at five feet four inches tall.






MRS. MADISON


Most of James Madison’s friends and acquaintances figured that the boyish looking scholar was destined to the life of a confirmed bachelor. He apparently had other plans, and during a congressional session in 1794, Madison asked a colleague to introduce him to the widow Dolley Payne Todd. Aaron Burr (p. 41) was happy to oblige. Dolley wrote a note to her sister that “the great little Madison” was coming to see her. The meeting went well, and Madison decided to pursue his suit vigorously. He asked for her hand after only a three-month courtship. She told him she would think about it while she journeyed to Virginia to see relatives. No doubt part of her hesitation was the seventeen-year difference in their ages, as well as the knowledge that she would be forced to leave her Quaker faith if they married, because Madison was Episcopalian. Moreover, she had a son from her first marriage, but she saw in Madison a worthy father for Payne. Dolley Todd sent her affirmative answer in August, and the couple wed a few weeks later. Their friends agreed that they made a wonderful couple, who complemented each other beautifully. Dolley Madison made the leap from somber Quaker threads to the vibrant fashions of the day; moreover, her winsome spirit and charm dazzled her husband’s enemies. Over the years, she proved an invaluable asset for his political career. Disappointed that she and her husband never had children of their own, Dolley spared no expense or extravagance for her son Payne Todd, who grew up quite spoiled. As an adult, he liberally spent his stepfather’s money, which ultimately led to the sale of Montpelier.


SECRETARY OF STATE


When Thomas Jefferson was elected president in 1800, James Madison was his first choice to head the State Department. Immediately, Madison became named in a lawsuit brought by William Marbury, who had been awarded a judgeship by President Adams in Adams’s last days in office. Marbury’s commission was never delivered, and with the transfer of power to a new party, Jefferson ordered Madison not to issue the remaining commissions for justices. The newly appointed chief justice Federalist John Marshall issued an order for Madison to act. Madison ignored the order, and because of a change in the Supreme Court’s schedule, it would be nearly two years before a decision was announced. Marshall was furious at Madison for snubbing him; consequently, the chief justice handed down a decision in Marbury v. Madison that would forever alter America’s government. Concerned that the executive branch felt it could disregard the judicial branch, Marshall scolded Jefferson and Madison for not commissioning Marbury. But Marshall stated that the law allowing Marbury’s appointment was in fact unconstitutional, so Marbury would not become a justice. More importantly, though, by granting the Supreme Court the power of judicial review, Marshall strengthened the judicial branch to put it on a more equal footing with the other two branches of government. Jefferson and Madison won the battle but Marshall won the war.


In dealing with other nations, America attempted to maintain its neutrality, as well as keep its right to trade with warring nations Britain and France. Fortunately in 1802, the fighting ended, albeit briefly, allowing America to trade with less constraint. Problems still remained, though, with privateers from the North African Barbary Coast demanding tribute, or else they would attack American ships in the Mediterranean Sea. Jefferson and Madison agreed that bribery needed to stop, so they responded by sending warships to the region, and Tripoli declared war. The short-lived Barbary War resulted in a United States victory and freer trade in the Mediterranean.
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Madison rejoiced with his friend at the amazing news of the Louisiana Purchase in 1803. The first term of Jefferson’s presidency was relatively calm compared to the problems they faced in his second. By that time, Britain and France had resumed fighting and, in turn, attacking American ships. Both sides harassed ships using each other’s West Indian ports. As secretary of state, Madison drafted numerous formal protests to their governments, which resulted in nothing but ridicule from Congress. With Britain’s practice of kidnapping American sailors and forcing them into service in the Royal Navy, Madison agreed with Jefferson that they must take firm action; hence, the Embargo of 1807. This ended all trade for the United States and forbid foreign vessels from using American ports. Jefferson and Madison were convinced that such drastic action would so greatly hurt the French and British that they would forego their illegal measures. Instead, the embargo boomeranged and hit the American economy grievously. Businesses suffered tremendously, and in 1809, Jefferson repealed the embargo.


Throughout Jefferson’s presidency, he turned to his old friend and protégé Madison for advice. They met frequently to discuss national affairs, so correspondence between the two is lacking for the period. Dolley Madison served as acting First Lady for the widower Jefferson. To no one’s surprise, James Madison was the Democratic-Republican candidate in 1808 at the end of Jefferson’s second term.




STATE OF THE UNION


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







US POPULATION IN 1809


7,239,881


NATIONAL DEBT IN 1809


$57,023.192


PRESIDENT’S SALARY


$25,000/year


STATES ADMITTED TO UNION


Louisiana, April 30, 1812


Indiana, December 11, 1816





ELECTION OF 1808


The Embargo of 1807 was the key issue during the campaign, and Federalists used it to discredit Madison, but they failed to pull away his base of support. Madison won 122 electoral votes; his Federalist opponent, Charles Cotesworth Pinckney of South Carolina, won forty-seven electoral votes. James Madison took office on March 4, 1809, and that night the first inaugural presidential ball was held. Guests marveled at the beautifully elegant dress of Dolley Madison and the giddy demeanor of outgoing President Thomas Jefferson, which contrasted with the depressingly somber mood of his successor. No one doubted who had just inherited the mess known as the presidency.


PRESIDENT MADISON


During the last days of Jefferson’s administration, Congress had passed the Nonintercourse Act, which resumed American exporting except to Britain and France, in an attempt to damage their economies. Since it actually had little effect on either nation, Madison repealed it in 1810 and replaced it with another act, saying that if either the French or British promised to honor neutrality of American ships, the United States would stop trading with the other nation. Napoleon agreed to this, so the US announced suspension of trade with Britain, resulting in further seizures and impressments by the British navy.


By 1812, Congress, led by a group of freshmen congressmen who came to be known as the War Hawks, including elected Speaker of the House Henry Clay of Kentucky and John C. Calhoun of South Carolina, demanded an end to the insulting treatment. American ships were constantly threatened by the far superior British navy, who boarded them and abducted sailors, as well as seized cargoes. Moreover, British-supported attacks by various Indian tribes on the northern and western frontiers demanded action. The year before, the Indiana governor William Henry Harrison had become famous for his winning the battle of Tippecanoe against the Shawnee tribe whose chief, Tecumseh, had gathered the support of a confederation of tribes. These Native Americans were thought to be aided by British agents. Madison increasingly believed war to be the answer, and one White House dinner guest at this time wrote, “He on every occasion, and to every body . . . says the time is ripe, and the nation, too for resistance.”5 After repeated petitions went unanswered, on June 12, 1812, Madison asked Congress to declare war. The War Hawks seized upon this as an opportunity to take Canada, so they eagerly voted for the declaration. Northeastern states disagreed and voted against the resolution, but it still passed.
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WAR HAWKS  ★  In the congressional elections of 1810, a group of approximately twenty Democratic-Republican congressmen from western and southern states were elected. These young men, the War Hawks, were united in a common belief that war against Great Britain (including seizing Canada) was the only way America could avenge itself after years of being humiliated by the British practice of impressments (taking sailors by force) and crippling American trade. They successfully took leadership positions, including Kentuckian Henry Clay becoming Speaker of the House. The War Hawks also succeeded in convincing their fellow congressmen to vote for war, and so they did in June 1812.





First of American objectives was the capture of Canada. Obtaining this prize had been an elusive goal in the American Revolution, and it would prove no less unobtainable in this war. One campaign after another failed to reach Canada; in fact, America lost some of its own land when Detroit surrendered without firing a shot. This apparently made both William Henry Harrison and Jefferson’s secretary of war Henry Dearborn, who Madison had appointed senior major-general of the army, too timid to push northward into Canada. Surprisingly, American superiority did appear in various naval engagements. The USS Constitution, in particular, demonstrated Yankee ingenuity in the form of a thickened hull. In its fight against the British ship Guerriere, cannonballs seemingly bounced off the American ship’s sides and fell into the sea, prompting one sailor to yell that the sides must be made of iron; hence its nickname “Old Ironsides.”


Then in 1813, a cocky young Commodore Oliver Perry obtained victory on Lake Erie even after his own ship was shot to pieces when he simply moved to a rowboat and headed to another ship with his banner flying, “Don’t give up the ship.” It took three hours before he could send the message to General William Henry Harrison, “We have met the enemy and they are ours.” Soon after, Harrison won at the battle of the Thames, where the Shawnee chief Tecumseh met his demise.


Fortunately for the Americans, the war began while Britain still fought Napoleon in Europe, meaning they sent what they could spare since they considered the Americans more a nuisance than a threat. British ships blockaded American ports, forcing the new country to develop its manufacturing capabilities. Meanwhile, Madison experienced continuing difficulties with his cabinet. Dissatisfied with his secretary of state, Robert Smith, who disliked Secretary of the Treasury Gallatin, Madison finally replaced Smith with his friend and sometime-rival James Monroe. Gallatin was soon dispatched to Europe to serve on a peace commission with Clay and John Quincy Adams. Secretary of War John Armstrong also lacked ability and would later resign at a most crucial moment.
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In 1812, Madison faced reelection and was opposed by fellow Republican DeWitt Clinton, who enjoyed Federalist support. By now, many New Englanders disliked “Mr. Madison’s War” and saw no reason why they should pay for it. Southerners and westerners disagreed and reelected Madison, but it was a closer contest than in 1808.


By 1814, the British were ready to continue the war in earnest since they had defeated Napoleon. They launched a three-pronged offensive: attack northern settlements from Canada; take the Chesapeake Bay; and seize New Orleans and the Mississippi River. Americans fought off attempts in the Great Lakes region, but the campaign in the Chesapeake was a different matter.


Secretary of War Armstrong insisted that the British were solely interested in Baltimore; the people of Washington, D.C., had nothing to fear. As the British neared the capital, Armstrong maintained his stance, so the area lacked defenders when British troops landed thirty-five miles southeast of the city on August 17. Inept commander General William Winder put up a pitiful defense at Bladensburg, Maryland, leaving Washington, D.C., open for the taking. At daybreak on August 24, President Madison left the city when he received a summons from General Winder. He left his wife packing, and she waited at the President’s House for news. By mid-afternoon, she wrote her sister, “We have had a battle or skirmish near Bladensburg, and I am still here within sound of the cannon! . . . Two messengers covered with dust come to bid me fly.”6 Dolley would leave only after ensuring the safe removal of the full-length Gilbert Stuart portrait of George Washington. It would be many hours before she and her husband were reunited in the nearby countryside. British troops arrived soon after her departure and, after gathering souvenirs, they set the President’s House ablaze. Then they proceeded to the Capitol, where they burned it, as well as other government buildings. That night and the following day, the president and First Lady attempted to reunite, but were unsuccessful until late in the day. By then a hurricane had ripped through the area, its rain dousing the fires, and its wind causing more destruction for both sides.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Madison’s wife Dolley was a popular hostess for both the widower Thomas Jefferson when he was president, as well as for her husband.





Outraged by the lack of defense for America’s capital, many citizens demanded action against Secretary of War Armstrong. Madison sided with them and accepted Armstrong’s resignation, and then appointed James Monroe acting secretary of war, as well as secretary of state. The president walked about the ruins of the President’s House and met with the people of the town. One citizen wrote, “Our good President is out animating the troops and encouraging the citizens not to despair.”7


Events soon turned in the Americans’ favor as the British proceeded up the Chesapeake to attack Baltimore. In its harbor, blocking any offensive, was Fort McHenry (named after Washington’s secretary of war). For twenty-five hours, the British bombarded the fort, but to no avail. Watching from the deck of a truce ship behind the British was an American lawyer, Francis Scott Key, who had come to Baltimore to negotiate the release of a civilian prisoner of war. Inspired by the huge flag seamstress Mary Pickersgill had made which flew over the fort and survived the bombardment, Key penned a poem, “The Star-Spangled Banner.” Dismayed by their failure to secure the fort, the British departed, hoping that their offensive against New Orleans would be more successful.
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DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







The Madisons held the first inaugural ball in 1809.





New Englanders remained unimpressed by the events at Baltimore and demanded a swift end to the war. Delegates from New England states met secretly in Hartford, Connecticut, and debated possible action. Frustrated by years of embargoes, the British blockade, and the war in general, which had greatly harmed their trade and businesses, these men met to determine what action they could pursue to end the war, and just as importantly for them, the influence of southerners and the Democratic-Republican Party. They did not do anything, for they received good news, making any action unnecessary.


After months of negotiations, the British and Americans finally agreed to the Treaty of Ghent and signed it on December 24, 1814. This treaty gained no territory or promises for either side, but it simply ended hostilities and resumed prewar conditions. Since communication was slow, neither side was aware of the news when Andrew Jackson and his men provided the British with one of their worst defeats at the battle of New Orleans on January 8, 1815. On February 20, 1815, President Madison announced with no small amount of relief the end of the war.


The remaining year of Madison’s presidency was one of extreme calm and, to some extent, jubilation. Although America had not won the war, they had not lost to Britain, and this knowledge provided the young nation with no small degree of self-confidence. The Madisons resumed entertaining, albeit on a smaller scale to fit in their reduced quarters at the Octagon house, another mansion in Washington, which stood in for the President’s House. While few people disliked Dolley Madison, many were unimpressed by her husband. Often James Madison was described as “mean looking,” but he was affable in conversation. Apparently after dinner and a few drinks, he could entertain all with his droll tales and anecdotes, often involving famous people. Looking to his retirement, the humor came more easily.


RETIREMENT


Madison renewed the charter for the Bank of the United States, ironic since he and his friend Thomas Jefferson had so vigorously opposed its creation twenty years before. He called for a constitutional amendment to grant Congress more power to authorize building canals and roads linking the country together. He also stated that tariffs might sometimes be needed. One Republican remarked that now Madison “out-Hamilton’s Alexander Hamilton.”8 Unperturbed by anyone’s criticism, he only looked to retire with his wife to his farm, Montpelier. He was happy to leave the worries of political life to the new president, James Monroe.


Once established at Montpelier, the Madisons soon received a steady stream of visitors. One remarked, “[Madison] has the reputation of being an excellent manager, and is a model of kindness to his slaves.”9 Madison sided with so many others on the need to extinguish slavery, but remained uncertain of the means to do so. He helped create the American Colonization Society, which later sponsored moving freed blacks to Liberia.
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At home, Madison fought ongoing poor harvests, as well as the accumulating debt of his stepson Payne Todd, which he kept hidden from Dolley.


One favorite project in his retirement was assisting Jefferson in the founding of the University of Virginia. Both men savored the opportunity to develop the college, selecting its faculty and curriculum. Finally seeing it open its doors in 1825 was a moment of great accomplishment. The two men had worked together for over a half-century, and it was with great sorrow that news reached the Madisons in 1826 that their dear friend had breathed his last on July fourth. Madison took Jefferson’s place as rector of the university.


When Virginia decided to have a convention to draft a new state constitution, James Madison rode from Montpelier to attend. Later, he denounced South Carolina senator John C. Calhoun and other southerners who used the Virginia and Kentucky Resolutions to buttress their calls for nullification and secession.


With a growing concern about the time he had remaining, Madison worked feverishly to put his notes from the Constitutional Convention into order and ready for publication. Rheumatism made it nearly impossible for him to write legibly, so for hours he dictated to Dolley. He hoped that any money made from sales of the volumes would secure her for the rest of her life. (The government published the work four years after his death.)




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Madison was a half-cousin twice removed of George Washington.





James Madison’s life ended on June 28, 1836, after a lengthy illness that left him bedridden for most of that year. He was buried in the Montpelier family burial plot. Dolley returned to Washington after his death and once again became the reigning hostess of the city. She was invited to various presidential receptions and became the favorite at gatherings. Still, her finances were drained by her son Payne, forcing her to sell her husband’s papers to Congress, and later even Montpelier was sold.


Dolley Madison died in Washington on July 12, 1849. Her body was moved from there to Montpelier in 1858.
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JAMES MONROE


★ ★ ★ FIFTH PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: April 28, 1758, in Westmoreland County, Virginia


•   Died: July 4, 1831, in New York City


RELIGION


•   Episcopalian


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   College of William and Mary, 1776


PROFESSION


•   Lawyer, senator


MILITARY SERVICE


•   Continental Army 1776–1780; rose from lieutenant to major; wounded at Battle of Trenton


•   Colonel, Virginia militia 1780–1781


FAMILY


•   Father: Spence Monroe (d. 1774)


•   Mother: Elizabeth Jones Monroe (d. ca. 1774)


•   Wife: Elizabeth Kortright Monroe (1768–1830); wed February 16, 1786, in New York City


•   Children: Eliza Kortright (1786–1835); James Spence (1799–1800); Maria Hester (1803–1850)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Member of the Continental Congress (1783–1786)


•   US senator (1790–1794)


•   Minister to France (1794–1796)


•   Governor of Virginia (1799–1802)


•   Minister to France and England (1803–1807)


•   Secretary of state (1811–1817)


•   Secretary of war (1814–1815)


PRESIDENCY


•   Two terms: March 4, 1817–March 4, 1825


•   Democratic-Republican


•   Reason for leaving office: completion of term


•   Vice president: Daniel D. Tompkins (1817–1825)


ELECTION OF 1816


•   Electoral vote: Monroe 183; Rufus King 34


•   Popular vote: none


ELECTION OF 1820


•   Electoral vote: Monroe 231; John Quincy Adams 1


•   Popular vote: none





James Monroe has several distinctions as an American leader. He is the only person to serve as both secretary of state and secretary of war (defense) simultaneously; besides George Washington, he is the only president to win his election unopposed; and he was the main negotiator in America’s greatest land deal—the Louisiana Purchase. Still, few Americans today can identify much about this man of whom Thomas Jefferson said, “Turn his soul wrong side outwards and there is not a speck on it.”1




CABINET


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







SECRETARY OF STATE


John Quincy Adams (1817–1825)


SECRETARY OF THE TREASURY


William H. Crawford (1817–1825)


SECRETARY OF WAR


John C. Calhoun (1817–1825)


ATTORNEY GENERAL


Richard Rush (1814–1817)


William Wirt (1817–1825)


SECRETARY OF THE NAVY


Benjamin Crowninshield (1817–1818)


Smith Thompson (1819–1823)


Samuel L. Southard (1823–1825)





EARLY LIFE


James Monroe was born in Westmoreland County, Virginia, on April 28, 1758, and was the second of five children born to Spence and Elizabeth Jones Monroe. As the eldest son, James would inherit the lion’s share of his father’s modest accumulation of property. Little is known about Monroe’s youth, and he shared few details in later years. Possibly his mother taught him the basics of reading, writing, and mathematics, but he did not begin his formal schooling until age eleven. At that time, he attended a nearby academy with twenty-four other boys, including John Marshall. The future chief justice and Monroe became close friends and remained so until political differences years later ended their association. In school, Monroe excelled in mathematics and Latin, yet he also found time for plenty of horseback riding and hunting.


In 1774, at the age of sixteen, Monroe went on to continue his education at the College of William and Mary. Prior to his entrance, James had endured the loss of his father, and it was his uncle’s help that allowed Monroe to continue with his studies. No mention is made of his mother at this time, so apparently she preceded her husband in death. His uncle Joseph Jones made a powerful impression on the adolescent—Jones had been educated in England and served in various governmental positions, including deputy king’s attorney for Virginia. By 1774, he was a member of the House of Burgesses and would later serve on the Committee of Safety, as well as in the Continental Congress.


The following year, the young student found many diversions from his studies during the turbulent time of 1775. As Virginia became swept up in events such as the governor removing gunpowder from the public magazine, the students grew more anxious to take an active role. Some formed a militia group, while others, including Monroe, marched on the Governor’s Palace, taking possession of guns and swords stored there to be handed over to the militia. A year later, Monroe decided to take a break from his studies and enlist in the Third Virginia Infantry.


MILITARY LIFE


After weeks of intense training, Monroe’s outfit marched northward to reinforce Washington’s troops in New York. Five days after arriving, James Monroe had his first taste of combat during the fighting around Harlem Heights. Ashamed by the “disgraceful and dastardly” behavior of Connecticut recruits, he eagerly awaited his chance to show what Virginians could do. His company and two others reinforced troops and managed to force the British to withdraw. More fighting and marching was in store for the Americans as Washington attempted to keep his dwindling army together and not face a major engagement.


Although able to escape injury in combat, Monroe’s luck ended on December 26, 1776, at the battle of Trenton. Junior officer Monroe volunteered to scout the roads into Trenton. He and his men ensured that no one could warn of their arrival. In Trenton, he met a doctor who offered to feed the soldiers and provide surgical skills. Once the fighting started, Monroe was one of two officers ordered to prevent the Hessians from readying their cannons. Both officers were wounded; in fact, Monroe would have died from the severed artery in his shoulder if not for the quick action of their volunteer surgeon.
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After a period of recuperation, Monroe rejoined the army and became aide-de-camp with a rank of major to Major General Lord Stirling. As he helped in planning major operations, Monroe came in contact with a wide circle of military officers, many of whom he would cross paths with politically in years to come. Among these were Alexander Hamilton, Aaron Burr, Lafayette, and, of course, his old friend John Marshall who was serving as judge advocate. Monroe was present at both defeats at Brandywine and Germantown, and suffered the long winter at Valley Forge. At the battle of Monmouth in June 1778, Monroe served as commander of a scouting party, but he felt unhappy without a field command and no prospects of acquiring one. He decided to return to Virginia and recruit a regiment in which he would serve as lieutenant colonel, and march them southward into the Carolinas, where British General Cornwallis had moved the fighting. George Washington wished him well and wrote him a recommendation.


Once Monroe arrived in Virginia, he found recruiting to be a nearly impossible task. Early in 1779, he met with Governor Thomas Jefferson, who sympathized with his plight. While unable to aid in the recruiting, Jefferson did help the young man with his future. Through discussions with the governor, Monroe began contemplating a different path for himself—reenrolling at the College of William and Mary and reading law with Jefferson. He wrote his uncle about the plan, and Joseph Jones responded positively, noting, “You do well to cultivate his friendship, and cannot fail to entertain a grateful sense of the favors he has conferred upon you, and while you continue to deserve his esteem he will not withdraw his countenance.”2 Monroe moved with Jefferson to Richmond when the Virginia capital was transferred from Williamsburg in 1780. This friendship would last fifty years and, over time, benefit both men.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Monroe’s 1817 inauguration was the first to be held outside.





In June 1780, Monroe rode into the South to establish an express route for dispatches to be forwarded north to Richmond in case of British movement in that direction. Monroe was successful, but still hoped for a combat command. He was later disappointed to learn that his expertise would not be needed at Yorktown. Knowing that his military career had truly ended, he determined his destiny lay in politics. He started by winning election in the spring of 1782 to the Virginia House of Delegates.


POLITICAL LIFE BEGINS


As Monroe’s political star began its ascent, his mentor Jefferson’s was on the decline. After serving two terms as governor, ending within months of the January 1781, British invasion of Virginia, Jefferson no longer cared for the demands of politics, preferring to tend his family and farms instead. Monroe understood this and was deeply concerned over the news of Mrs. Jefferson’s precarious health following a difficult birth in May 1782. Monroe empathized with the misery Jefferson was enduring and wrote a sincere and touching letter saying, “I necessarily suppose you are entirely engaged in an attention and discharge to those tender duties which her situation unhappily requires from you . . . I shall forebear to trouble you with an answer  . . .  which respects your retreat from publick [sic] service.”3 He added the news as a postscript that he had been appointed to the Executive Council (the upper house of the Virginia Assembly which advised the governor); at the age of twenty-four, it was a great honor.
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SUPREME COURT APPOINTMENTS


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Smith Thompson, 1823





Elected the following year to the Confederation Congress, which served as the nation’s sole governing body as set forth in the Articles of Confederation, Monroe traveled to New York City and began a three-year stint. There he developed an interest in the West and chaired committees toward that end. He pushed for western land grants for veterans and open navigation on the Mississippi River. Monroe also toured the Great Lakes region and began putting ideas together for developing effective territorial government. Parts of his plan were written into the Land Ordinance of 1787, which established the process for territories to become states.


While serving in Congress, James Monroe met and was captivated by a young lady, Elizabeth Kortright. The daughter of a former British officer, the eighteen-year-old was considered cold and reserved yet beautiful. Theirs was a short courtship before they married on February 16, 1786. After living in New York with her family for a few months, Monroe decided to return to Virginia and begin practicing law in Fredericksburg. Still, he kept his political life active by serving at the Ratification Convention (each state held one to decide whether to ratify the US Constitution). Monroe voted against the Constitution as a moderate anti-Federalist, but his fears of creating a national government whose power would crush the states and their people were soon allayed, and he accepted the ratification and the new government without misgivings. He then allowed friends to persuade him to run for the Senate. To the surprise of many, this meant he opposed James Madison, who easily beat his young friend. However, in the fall Monroe won election in his own right to fill a vacant seat after the death of Virginia’s other senator.


Once established in the Senate, Monroe rapidly became its leader of the anti-Federalists after differences between Hamilton and Jefferson began to emerge. He opposed a national standing army, as well as Washington’s Neutrality Proclamation, issued in 1793 in response to France’s declaration of war against Britain. After originally accepting this stance, Monroe switched to Jefferson’s side when they discussed the possible constitutional ramifications of a precedent being set if the executive branch simply acted arbitrarily. Both men were also in agreement regarding the French Revolution. Both believed that if the United States favored anyone, it should be the French, who were fighting to obtain their liberté.


DIPLOMAT


Monroe’s preference for the French cause led to his appointment by President Washington to serve as minister plenipotentiary to that country. There his partiality toward that nation drew a rebuke from fellow Americans who believed he should act more objectively. Monroe also worked to gain the release of Thomas Paine from French prison (Paine had been imprisoned for not endorsing the execution of Louis XVI). Once freed, Paine immediately set his quill against Washington, whom he felt had abandoned him. This, too, diminished Washington’s affection toward Monroe. He eventually was recalled for failing to enthusiastically support America’s early attempt at negotiating with Britain in Jay’s Treaty. With genuine regret, the Monroes said adieu to France in 1796.
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GOVERNOR


Smarting over his recall and blaming Federalists, including Washington and Hamilton, for having engineered it, Monroe returned to Virginia to lick his wounds. He and his family returned to the small house on their land near Charlottesville near their neighbor Thomas Jefferson. Working on his farm and rebuilding his law practice occupied Monroe’s time but not his thoughts. He yearned to return to the political arena and hoped to gain vindication. This he did by easily winning election to the governorship in 1799.


The governorship was not a powerful post according to Virginia’s state constitution, yet Monroe worked to mold the office into something more. He introduced the first state of the state address and oversaw the construction of an armory in Richmond. During his tenure, James and Elizabeth Monroe experienced personal loss when their infant son died from complications of whooping cough. The Monroes still had two daughters, Eliza and Maria, who would provide comfort and solace to their parents.


The ominous threat that southerners feared more than any other—slave insurrection—grew nearer on August 30, 1800, when Monroe received word that slaves were planning a revolt (known as “Gabriel’s Rebellion”) for that night. As governor, he assumed authority to mobilize militia troops to patrol the state during the coming weeks. Later, the slave leader, Gabriel, was caught, tried, and hanged without naming any accomplices, but that did not prevent thirty-five other slaves from being executed in what Governor Monroe termed “this unpleasant event in our history.” He anticipated similar incidents would occur—“While this class of people exists among us we can never count on with certainty on its tranquil submission.”4 Later he endorsed the idea of ending slavery through repatriation of freed slaves to Africa.




SLAVE INSURRECTIONS  ★  During Monroe’s tenure as governor of Virginia (1799–1802), his state witnessed two slave revolts. After the first occurred in Southampton County in 1799, Monroe worked to ensure that the accused leaders were represented by counsel and treated humanely in prison, and investigated claims that they had been freedmen from Maryland. At a time when many of his countrymen considered slaves inferior and not entitled to rights, Monroe’s efforts stood out for his interest in justice and fairness to the defendants. (The slaves were prosecuted, found guilty, and executed.)





Upon completion of his third year as governor, Monroe planned to return to practicing law; however, his plans changed immediately upon receipt of a letter from old friend and now president Thomas Jefferson. He was being sent to France as special envoy to Robert Livingston to negotiate terms to gain the port of New Orleans. By March 1803, Monroe, his wife, and two daughters were on their way to France, and as it turned out, into history.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Monroe was the first president to have previously served as a US senator.





REAL ESTATE BROKER


Monroe left Washington, D.C., with instructions from Secretary of State Madison that he could offer up to $10 million5 for New Orleans and West Florida. Once Monroe arrived in France, he learned from his colleague, Robert Livingston, that Napoleon had other ideas. Fighting multiple wars had created a tremendous deficit for France, so the First Consul now needed income. He and his finance minister, Talleyrand, dangled the tempting offer of the entire Louisiana territory, although West Florida still remained Spanish, so Napoleon argued he was unable to sell it. Monroe and Livingston negotiated with the French, and as any good prospective buyer, they balked at the asking price. Eventually the French relented and, instead of 100 million francs, they agreed to eighty million, which was ten million more than the Americans wanted to spend. Still, the total of fifteen million dollars still resounds as a remarkable real estate deal, especially when calculated to three cents an acre. Talleyrand bemusedly told Livingston, “You have made a noble bargain for yourselves and I suppose you will make the most of it.”6
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STATE OF THE UNION


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







US POPULATION IN 1817


9,638,543


STATES ADMITTED TO UNION


Mississippi, December 10, 1817


Illinois, December 3, 1818


Alabama, December 14, 1819


Maine, March 15, 1820


Missouri, August 10, 1821


NUMBER OF STATES IN 1825


24





DIPLOMAT EXTRAORDINAIRE


After concluding the treaty granting the Louisiana Purchase, Monroe left for England in July 1803. He was there to gain British cooperation regarding American shipping rights, particularly the curtailment of impressments, but he was unsuccessful in winning any concessions from the government. Monroe returned to France, attempting to encourage their aid in securing West Florida. The French now were cool to this idea, so America decided to push the notion that since the boundaries of the Louisiana Territory were vague (and always had been), then West Florida was included in the recent acquisition. Wanting to gain in writing the territory, and the monetary claims of Americans against the Spanish when the port of New Orleans had been closed, Monroe then traveled to Spain in early 1805.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Monroe was the first president to ride on a steamboat.





The Spanish were under Napoleon’s thumb and dared not go against the newly self-appointed emperor’s wishes. Both Spain and France insisted that West Florida was never part of Louisiana and the Spanish balked at paying American claims. Negotiations soon broke down, and Monroe had to consider this mission, too, a failure.


The American diplomat now returned to Britain, hoping this time to be more successful gaining their support in observing American neutrality at sea. After receiving a cool reception in London, he wrote to Jefferson his belief that Britain would continue to bully the United States at sea because it knew it could, and Monroe warned, “All will insult us, encroach on our rights, and plunder us if they can do it with impunity.”7 The British refused to include any concessions regarding impressments, but a commercial treaty was signed and forwarded to President Jefferson, who refused to submit it to the Senate since it omitted any mention of impressments. This decision surprised and upset Monroe, who felt his efforts were not appreciated, and he returned to America late in 1807 a disgruntled diplomat.


VIRGINIAN


As 1808 began, so did the party politics to determine their candidates for the presidential election. Madison seemed the acknowledged heir apparent, but Monroe also gained a following. Still smarting from the recent treatment of his treaty with Britain, he decided to be open to any offers. Jefferson looked upon both Madison and Monroe as his close friends and protégés, so the possible rupture that such a contest might cause greatly distressed the president and he wrote to Monroe, “I have ever viewed Mr. Madison and yourself as two principal pillars of my happiness. Were either to be withdrawn, I should consider it as among the greatest calamities which could assail my future peace of mind.”8 Monroe reasserted his friendship with Jefferson, but for the next few years, his friendship with Madison was notably distant. This did not improve with the election of 1808, where Madison won easily over both Monroe and his Federalist opponent.


[image: ]


Contented to return to his Virginia farm in Albemarle County and be among friends and family, Monroe still yearned to play a key role in the nation. Republicans, including Madison, thought his reputation and Republican status needed reaffirming. Toward this end, Monroe won election to the Virginia House of Delegates and then was appointed to fill the vacancy of governor. He stayed in that post only three months before receiving news that President Madison wanted him as secretary of state. James Monroe was ready.


SECRETARY OF STATE


Strained relations between the United States, Britain, and France continued to grow worse as the European nations refused to acknowledge American claims of neutrality. Both Madison and Monroe became increasingly “determined to make itself (America) respected.”9 Monroe worked as liaison between Congress and the executive branch, meeting with War Hawks (p. 54), including newly elected Speaker of the House Henry Clay and South Carolinian John C. Calhoun. The secretary of state assured them that the president would support a declaration of war should nothing improve in the coming months. Monroe also met frequently with British and French diplomats, but none were forthcoming in providing assurances.


President Madison decided the time for action had arrived and sent a message to Congress on June 1, 1812, asking for a declaration of war against Great Britain, citing the ongoing issues regarding blockade of American shipping, sailors being impressed, and the overall lack of respect of American neutrality rights at sea. Once Congress agreed to war, Monroe’s desire to lead men into battle resurfaced again.




THE WHITE HOUSE  ★  Following the burning of the White House by the British in 1814, the Monroes moved back into the rebuilt home in 1817. They began furnishing the house in the Empire style, as they believed the president’s home should be formal as well as stylish. Pieces included gilded furniture, carpets, silver, and chandeliers; many of these items continue to be used in the White House today. Monroe also supervised the planting of more trees on the grounds and hired the first gardener for the White House. The south portico was added in 1824.





With so many military officers complaining to Monroe and the president about the lack of preparedness of troops and fortifications, the pressure was on Secretary of War William Eustis to resign, which he did in December 1812. Monroe then switched jobs temporarily and became acting secretary of war. While in that capacity for ten weeks, he amassed an impressive record of developing plans for coastal fortifications, suggesting recruiting guidelines, and planning for the invasion of Canada, which he hoped to lead personally. To his disappointment, he was passed over for that role and in February 1813, he returned to the State Department when John Armstrong became secretary of war.


Monroe continued to juggle his concerns for the ongoing negotiations occurring in Ghent, Belgium, with the warfront at home. His negotiating team complained of British unwillingness to allow any mention of impressing sailors; this probably came as no surprise to the secretary of state, who had had the same difficulty in 1806. At home, Monroe argued repeatedly that the British planned to move against Washington, D.C. Armstrong disagreed, insisting that their objective was Baltimore. Madison sided with Armstrong, so defenses and troops were not expanded as Monroe had urged. By late August, Monroe’s prediction was proven correct, and the capital city braced for an enemy attack. Not having any information regarding enemy troop movements or strength, Monroe volunteered to lead a cavalry troop to do just that. After reporting to the president, he then ordered clerks to begin packing important government papers, including the Declaration of Independence, to be moved for safekeeping.
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LIBERIA  ★  Beginning in 1816, the American Colonization Society (ACS) began to repatriate slaves to Africa, but their first attempts to relocate Africans to Sierra Leone failed. A few years later, the ACS bought land in Africa that ultimately became Liberia. In 1825, the capital of the new colony was named Monrovia on behalf of the current US president. Twenty years later, Liberia became Africa’s first republic, but its citizens were divided between those native to the area and the former American slaves; the latter group controlled the former.





The secretary of state attempted to assist at the Battle of Bladensburg, but Madison ordered him and other cabinet members to vacate the area. After the debacle (the Americans’ defeat allowed the British to capture and burn the capital), Monroe remained to help evacuate troops and was the last cabinet member to leave that night. Three days later, when the two Virginians returned to Washington and its ashes, they were greeted by a frightened citizenry who insisted that the capital be surrendered. Incensed by such a statement, Monroe fumed, “Any deputation moved towards the enemy would be repelled by the bayonet.”10 The secretary of war did not return immediately; he lacked anyone’s confidence, including the president’s, who told Armstrong to take a vacation. Armstrong resigned soon after, and again, James Monroe resumed both critical positions.


Immediately, the new secretary of war worked tirelessly toward plans to defend Baltimore, and with great success. He introduced a plan for a conscription army, believing militias inadequate in numbers and training, but the Senate refused. Monroe also worked to create funding sources for the war. Once the Treaty of Ghent (the document that ended the War of 1812, but did little else since neither side was acknowledged as a true victor) was signed, some, including Monroe, may have been displeased not to see British concessions, but no one was surprised. In February 1815, the secretary of state/war wrote, “The demonstration (war) is satisfactory that our Union has gained strength, our troops honor, and the nation’s character, by the contest.”11 He could have added that the war had secured him a place in the nation’s gratitude, as well as a nomination to become the next president.


During the last months of his tenure under Madison, Monroe resumed only heading the state department and worked to restore his health, for the war had taken its toll. He was exhausted and had lost considerable weight, looking more like someone suffering from a terminal disease. He continued his duties while others worked to put his name forward as the Republican candidate for 1816. The main argument against his candidacy by some New Englanders was the dislike of yet another Virginian occupying the presidency, but he still won by an overwhelming majority. Monroe’s Federalist opponent, Rufus King, only gained the electoral votes of three states, and his native New York was not one of them.
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PRESIDENT MONROE


After taking the oath of office from his old friend Chief Justice John Marshall, James Monroe embarked on a presidency that would be called the “Era of Good Feelings,” because, following their defeat in 1816, the Federalist party collapsed, eliminating the rancorous partisanship that had existed between the Federalists and the Republicans. The country, more self-confident now, concentrated on ways to expand itself. The new president’s attention turned to Florida, where Seminole Indians frequently launched raids against neighbors in Georgia and runaway slaves sought refuge. Monroe sent the new hero from New Orleans, Andrew Jackson, to attend to the situation along the Georgia–Florida border. Jackson decided to go farther into Florida and went so far as to hang two British subjects who he said were inciting the Seminole raids. Jackson’s action angered both British and Spanish governments and created a definite diplomatic challenge for the new secretary of state John Quincy Adams. Adams succeeded in convincing the Spanish that problems would only multiply in the future if they attempted to maintain their tenuous hold on Florida. They agreed to cede the territory in return for five million dollars that the United States would assume in American claims against the Spanish government. The two governments also managed to agree that the western boundary of the Louisiana Territory extended all the way to the Pacific Ocean.


Monroe faced another diplomatic challenge with the US–Canadian border. In 1818, the British and Americans agreed to the border as the forty-ninth parallel from the Lake of the Woods area (in today’s Minnesota) west to the Rockies; shared fishing rights in Canadian waters; and the joint occupancy of the Oregon territory.




DID YOU KNOW?


★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★ ★







Monroe’s daughter Maria was the first to marry in the White House.





The president continued the practice begun when he was secretary of state of meeting with congressmen, and they were frequent visitors to the White House. The two groups tangled; however, when Congress wanted to pass an internal improvements package, which included the construction and maintenance of roads and canals, Monroe argued that the national government could not be responsible for manning toll booths and sustaining the transportation routes, so he vetoed the bill.


Now that the White House had been rebuilt and glistened from its new white paint, visitors flocked to see the changes, and they were suitably impressed. The Monroes had outfitted the house with furniture collected from their European sojourn. Their manners also reflected their stay in Europe’s capitals as they insisted diplomats could only visit the president on official occasions. Receptions were more formal affairs than those in the past under Jefferson and Madison. Visitors found Mrs. Monroe much more reserved and aloof than Dolley Madison, but they still ventured to see the exquisitely dressed First Lady. When her frail health precluded her from attending functions, her daughter Eliza Hay stood in for her. Mrs. Hay soon became the talk of Washington society because of her refusal to call on people and her often mercurial temperament. Her sister Maria became the first White House bride when she married her cousin Samuel Gouverneur there in 1820. The two sisters were not close, and Maria and her husband moved to New York. Whenever the Monroes could, they slipped to their property at Oak Hill in Loudoun County, which was an easy drive from Washington.
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MISSOURI COMPROMISE  ★  The new nation had maintained an equal number of slave and free states since its inception. This balance threatened to be disrupted when Missouri petitioned for statehood. The idea of allowing a state from the West to allow slavery was anathema to many Americans, and the issue was debated extensively in Congress. In 1820, Speaker of the House Henry Clay proposed a compromise—allow Missouri to enter as a slave state and Maine as a free state. All other lands north of the 36°30’N latitude would be free. (This law was later overturned by the 1854 Kansas–Nebraska Act and the Dred Scott Supreme Court decision.)





As Monroe’s first term wound down, it became obvious that the nation was in the midst of a depression caused by postwar economic woes, including overextension of credit. The rising numbers of low-cost imports put American factories out of business, creating more unemployment. Fighting the nation’s first peacetime depression was a new experience for the government. Monroe did propose allowing some relief for those paying mortgages on lands bought from the government.


During his presidency, Monroe decided to imitate Washington and make a Grand Tour of the nation. Shortly after he took office, he traveled through New England, stopping to see the ever-growing factories and cities. Two years later, he toured the South and then looped through Kentucky and Tennessee, making stops to see Clay and Jackson in their home states. These trips convinced Monroe of the distinctive differences between the nation’s sections, much of it attributable to slavery. This concern was even more pronounced when Missouri asked to join the union as a slave state.


Immediately, Congress erupted into furor. Northerners demanded that slavery not extend into the new states, while southerners protested any restriction of slavery. Not desirous of war, some in Congress worked to create a compromise. The president, as well, accepted the need for the Missouri Compromise to keep the union intact. Slavery continued to be on Monroe’s mind, and he worked with others to create a colony of freed American slaves in West Africa named Liberia. In honor of his work, the capital was named Monrovia.


In his reelection in 1820, James Monroe became the only person besides George Washington to run unopposed. Voter apathy hit and election turnout was low. One elector did cast his vote against Monroe because he simply did not like the president.


The crowning achievement of Monroe’s presidency occurred in 1823, when he and his secretary of state were increasingly alarmed by the threats of European nations taking possession of territories in Latin America and the Russians claiming both Alaska and Oregon. The two men fashioned a document that became known as the Monroe Doctrine, which proclaimed to the world the United States’ opinion that Europe should stop attempting to colonize the western hemisphere. The British had already agreed to support the words with their navy. This policy shaped American foreign policy from that point forward. With such a legacy, James Monroe left the presidency after refusing a third term, in March 1825.
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RETIREMENT


The Monroes retired to their newly constructed home at Oak Hill, which had been designed by Thomas Jefferson. After nearly fifty years of public service, some of which he had never been compensated for, James Monroe embarked on his retirement years some $75,000 in debt. He spent some of those years wrangling with Congress to regain his rightful monies from expenditures he made for the United States. Ultimately, a fraction was paid to him.


He worked to improve Oak Hill, having already sold his Albemarle County property. Monroe also happily became a member of the Board of Visitors for his dear friend Jefferson’s new project, the University of Virginia. In 1825, soon after retiring from the presidency, Monroe greeted Lafayette on his grand tour along with President John Quincy Adams. Monroe joined Madison for the state constitutional convention held in Richmond in 1829, and Monroe was promptly elected its president. Unfortunately, health concerns caused him to resign that post two months later.


Eliza Monroe may have been a victim of epileptic seizures, one of which may have caused her to fall into a fireplace and be severely burned in 1826. She died four years later, and the memories of happier days were too powerful for her husband, so he moved to New York to live with their younger daughter, Maria Gouverneur. There, he worked on writing two books, including his memoirs, but never finished either project.


On July 4, 1831, James Monroe became the third president to die on the nation’s birthday. He was buried first in New York City, but in 1858, the body was reinterred at Hollywood Cemetery in Richmond, Virginia. In 1903, Eliza Monroe’s body was moved next to her husband from their home in Oak Hill.


In his eulogy, John Quincy Adams praised Monroe’s public service and said after “strengthening and consolidating the federative edifice of his country’s Union, till he was entitled to say, like Augustus Caesar of his imperial city, that he had found her built of brick and left her constructed of marble.”12
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JOHN QUINCY ADAMS


★ ★ ★ SIXTH PRESIDENT ★ ★ ★







LIFE SPAN


•   Born: July 11, 1767, in Braintree (now Quincy), Massachusetts


•   Died: February 23, 1848, in Washington, D.C.


RELIGION


•   Unitarian


HIGHER EDUCATION


•   Harvard, 1787


PROFESSION


•   Lawyer


MILITARY SERVICE


•   None


FAMILY


•   Father: John Adams (1735–1826)


•   Mother: Abigail Smith Adams (1744–1818)


•   Wife: Louisa Catherine Johnson Adams (1775–1852); wed July 26, 1797, in London, England


•   Children: George Washington Adams (1801–1829); John Adams II (1803–1834); Charles Francis Adams (1807–1886); Louisa Catherine (1811–1812)


POLITICAL LIFE


•   Minister to the Netherlands (1794–1797)


•   Minister to Prussia (1797–1801)


•   Massachusetts state senator (1802)


•   US senator (1803–1808)


•   Minister to Russia (1809–1814)


•   Head negotiator of Treaty of Ghent (1814)


•   Minister to Great Britain (1815–1817)


•   Secretary of state (1817–1825)


PRESIDENCY


•   One term: March 4, 1825–March 4, 1829


•   Democratic-Republican


•   Reason for leaving office: lost election to Andrew Jackson in 1828


•   Vice president: John C. Calhoun (1825–1829)


ELECTION OF 1824


•   Electoral vote: Jackson 99; Adams 84; William Crawford 4; Henry Clay 37


•   Popular vote: Jackson 153,544; Adams 108,740; Crawford 46,618; Clay 47,136


•   Due to lack of a majority, election decided by House of Representatives, who voted for Adams





The first American political dynasty was that of John and John Quincy Adams. Both men became president, but to their chagrin, each only served one term. Father and son were close and shared a similar temperament, and in later years, John Quincy Adams described himself: “I never was and never shall be what is commonly termed a popular man . . . . I have no powers of fascination; none of the honey which the profligate proverb says is the true fly-catcher.”1
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SEP 18: President Washing-
ton lays cornerstone of the.
capitol in Washington, D.C.

OCT 12: Columbus Day.
celebrated for the first time,
in New York City

OCT 13: Farmer's Almanac is
published for the first time

NOV 7: Washington
reelected president

MAR 23: King Gustav IIl of
Sweden dies; succeeded by
his son Gustav IV Adolf

APR: France declares war
against Prussia and Austria

AUG 10: Tuilries Palace
stormed in French Revolu-
tion; Louis XVI arrested

SEP 2: September Massacres
of the French Revolution

SEP 22: Republic of France
procaimed

APR: Citizen Genet arrives
from France, works o init-
ate expeditions against the
Bitish, angering Washington
and his government

(1793
JAN 21 French King Louis

XVl s beheaded at the guil-

Totine; his wife, Queen Marie

Antoinette, s executed nine

months later
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NOV: First American
ship,the Ot arives at

NATIONAL
EVENTS

SEP 17: President Wash- NOV 4: Treaty of Tripoli Monterey Bay, California,
JUN 1: Tennessee becomes  JUL8:US State Department  ington issues his Farewell  signed between US and opening New England-
16th state issues fist American passport  Address Tripoli California trade route

MAY 10: Napoleon defeats  MAY 15: Napoleon's troops  MAY 15: France and SEP 8 French troops defeat  OCT 5: Spain declares war
Austria at the Battle of Lodi take Milan Sardinia sign Peace Treaty  Austrian forces at the Battle  on England
of Paris of Bassano
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OCT 18: Spanish officials  NOV: American represen-

JUL 4: US Military Academy  in New Orleans prohibit tative Robert Livingston
atWest Point, New York, Americans from right of negotiates with French to
opens deposit there use lower Misissippi River

OCT: French amy enters
switzerland

FEB 24; Chief Justice John
Marshall intiates judicial

Cotton surpasses tobacco  review (Marbury v. Madison)
forfirsttime as top Ameri-  —Judiciary Act of 1789
can cash crop dedared unconstitutional

MAY 18: Hostilities resume  JUL: First public railway line
between Great Britainand  opens outside London
France
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0CT 20-22: General Josiah
Harmar is defeated near

present-day Fort Wayne, DEC: National government APR-MAY: President

Indiana, by Native Americans  moves to Philadelphia while  MAR: Congress passesatax  MAR 4:Vermont becomes  Washington tours southern

led by Little Turtle Washington, D.C, is built on whiskey 14th state states
W

SEP 4: Amateur Swiss DEC 11: Russians storm MAR: Thomas Paine wanted  Rights of Man, which calls JUN: French royal family

scientist Jacob Schweppe  lmail, kil 26,000 Turks in for treason in Great Britain for end of British monarchy;  attempts to flee the country,

produces carbonated Russo-Turkish War after publication of The. he flees to France butis recaptured

beverage in London
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SEP 25: Twelfth Amendment NOV: Supreme Court justice

is ratified—voters choose Samuel Chase served six
MAY 14: Lewis and Clark JUL 11: Vice PresidentAaron  both president and vice NOV: Thomas Jefferson articles of impeachment—
begin three-year expedition  Bur kil Alexander Hamil-  president to avoid replay  reelected president; George fist US Supreme Court
with the Corps of Discovery  ton in a duel of 1800 election Clinton s vice president justce to be impeached

MAR 21: Code Napoleon,a  MAY 18: Napoleon Bonapar-  JUN: Ludwig van Beethoven  DEC 2: Napoleon Bonaparte  DEC 12: Spain declares.

code of ivil laws, enacted  te proclaimed emperor premieres Symphony No.3 crowns himself first emperor  war on Brtain
in France of the French ina thousand
years at Notre Dame

Cathedral
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SEP 24: Congress passes SEP 29: US Army established ¢ 19: 151y jay appointed
Federal Judicary Act reating  SEP 25: Congressproposes OCT 15: Washington tours first chief justice of the NOV 26: First Thanksgiving
Supreme Courtof i ustices 12 constitutonal amendments _ New England Supreme Court Day established

. _________________________|
Bl cottish-Canadian JUL 14: French Revolution AUG 26: French Assembly SEP 100,000 Turks NOV 8: First bourbon
explorer Alexander Mackenzie  begins with fallof the adopts Dedlaration of the  defeated by Russia in Battle  whiskey distlled, quickly
discovers Arctc Ocean Bastille Rights of Man of Rymnik. becomes popular
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MAR 14: Eli Whitney patents

N e
Al APR 22: Washington issues )
] E Proclamation of Neutralty, United States agrees topay e Cottongin
A hoping to avoid var with DEC 31: Thomas Jefferson tribute to Barbary pirates of  MAR 27: Permanent US
Britain and France resigns s secretary of state North Afrca Navy etablished
I
FEB 1: France declares NOV 8: The Louvre palace DEC 22: Napoleon MAY laitian revolt MAY 8: French sdentist
war on Great Britain, thus  opens as an art museum Bonaparte promoted to against France begins Antoine Lavoisier is

making war against Britain, brigadier general at age 24 guillotined
Holland, Spain, and the Holy
Roman Empire
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JUL 19: Treaties of Portage  Congress passes a bill

=9

e

{4 maR 3: Congress declares des Siouxsigned, ending  authorizig the aration APR 11: In Philadelphia, established by former slave

=4 war against Algeria (second  hostiltes with indians n old of a second Bank of the the first African Methodist Richard Allen, who becomes

S sarbary war) Northwest Territory United States Episcopal (AME) churchis s firt bishop.

T

JUN 18: Napoleon loses JUN 22: Napoleon Tsultrim Gyatso becomes the  The British found Banjul, The ~ East India Company begins
at Battle of Waterloo to abxlicates—again—and 10th Dalai Lama Gambia asa trading post  importing opium to China

extensive Allied army under  is condemned to island
Duke of Wellington of St. Helena
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AUG 3:Treaty of Greenville
MAY 8: First US life signed by General Wayne
JAN 29: Naturalization At JAN 31: Alexander Hamilton insurance policy issued by and 12 Ohio Indian tribes;
passed requiring five years  resigns as secretary of the  FEB 7: Eleventh Amendment  Insurance Company of North  cedes large tracts of their
residency treasury ratified America (ater Cigna) land to the United States

NATIONAL
EVENTS

APR 7: France becomes first  JUN 7: Duchy of Luxembourg  JUN 8: Louis XVl becomes  JUL 22: Spain cedesits half ~ SEP 16: Britsh begin seizing
nation to adopt the metric  surrenders to French after 82 titular king of France of Hispaniola to France Dutch colonies, beginning
system years of Austrian rule (becomes actual king with the Cape of Good Hope
APRS, 1814)
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MAR 4: Thomas Jefferson
inaugurated president

MAY 10: Tripoli declares war
against US

MAR 11: Czar Paul | of
Russia murdered; succeeded
by his son Alexander |

NOV 16: The New-York
Evening Post founded by
Alexander Hamilton

JUN 7: Haitian Indepen-
dence declared

DEC 8: Thomas Jefferson
sends annual message to
Congress in written form
tather than in person; prec-
edent continues until 1913

JUN 14: Benedict Arnold
dies in London

Arlington House completed

for George Washington husband, Robert E. Lee, will
Parke Custis, Martha Iater inherit it eventually, it
Washington's grandson; becomes center of Arlington
s daughter and her National Cemetery

g0
World population reaches  Madame Marie G, Tussaud

1 billon people opens wax museun in
London
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JuL 25: Battle of Lundy's AUG 24: British march on buildings and homes; SEP 11: Americans defeat
Lane stops American AUG 8: Bitish and American  Washington, D.C., where President Madison and his  Bitish on Lake Champlain
advance into Canada; peace commissioners begin  they bum the President’s  government flee to the and end the British advance
bloodiest battle of the war  meetings in Ghent, Belgium  House, capitol, and other _ countryside from the north

NATIONAL
EVENTS

JAN 31: Gervasio Antonio de ~ FEB 11: Norway proclaims  APR 6: Napoleonis APR 11: Napoleon abdicates  AUG 13: Anglo-Dutch Treaty
Posadas becomes supreme  independence overthrown; now Britain andis exiled to Mediter- signed

director of Argentina can send 14,000 veterans o ranean island of Elba; Louis

fight Americans XVIll becomes king of France
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JAN 5 First transatlantic APR 4: Congress agrees to 0CT 19: Chickasaw tribe 0CT 20: US and Great
crossing on monthy basis  limit number of stripeson  MAY 24: General Jackson  signs overitslands between  Britain agree to Convention
begins between Liverpool,  American flag to 13 and add  captures Pensacolaand ex-  Mississippi and Tennessee  of 1818—norther boundary
England, and New York City  stars with eachnewstate ecutes two ritish subjects  Rivers to Us settled as 49th parallel

NATIONAL
EVENTS

FEB 12: Chile offidially MAR 11: Mary Wollstone- MAY 11: Charles XIV NOV 21: Czar Alexander | of  DEC 24: Franz Gruber sets
dedares itsindependence  craft helley publishes: crowned king of Sweden  Russia petitions for a Jewish “stille Nacht, Heilige Nacht”
from Spain Frankenstein state in Palestine (silent Night}to music
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MAR 2: Congress passes

non-importation act against  MAR 2: Congress passes  JUN 22: US relations with
Great Britain to protestits  legislation proibiting Great ritain worsen when  when Chesapeake refuses,  JUL: President Jefferson
impressments of American  importation of slaves USS Chesapeake is ordered  British open fire,killng 3, orders all British ships out
sailors after January 1, 1808 10 stop by HMS Leopold; ‘wounding 18 of American waters
I R E——
JAN7: Britain's Royal Coun-  JAN 28: London street it FEB: Napoleon attacks FEB 23: British Parfiament AP 27: French forces
il announces its prohibition  with gaslights Russia Votes to ban slave trade capture Danzig, Poland

of neutral nations'ships to
trade vith France or her al-
lies;blockades French ports
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NATIONAL

EVENTS

APR 15: Thomas Gallaudet AAPR 30: US and Great Brit-
founds fist free school for ain agree to imit number
of 1812 MAR 3: Alabama territory deaf in Hartford, Connecticut  of warships on Great Lakes
created from Mississippi ~ MAR 4: Monroe s inaugu- (today's American School for and Lake Champlai in Rush-
Harvard opens law school territory ated as fifth president the Dea) Bagot Treaty.

Typhus epidemic sweeps. Potato famine in Ireland Elgin Marbles displayed at  First Waterloo Bridge is FEB 12: Chile wins liberation
Edinburgh and Glasgow, leads to mass emigration  British Museum completed across the Thames  from Spain at the Battle of
Scotland from that country Chacabuco

Executive Mansion rebuilt
following ts burning in War
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NATIONAL

EVENTS

JUL 11: US Marine Corps.
created

WAY 24: rsh rebelion
begins, lasts five months

JUL 1: Napoleon's troops
land in Egypt

JUL 14: Alien and Sedition

NOV 10: Legislature adopts
Kentucky Resolutions—
Thomas Jefferson’ response
totheillegality of the Alien
and Sedition Acts

JUL 24: Great Britain enacts
Tegislation outlawing trade
unions

DEC 24: Virginia ratifies.
similar resolutions drafted
by James Madison

AUG 1: British Admiral
Horatio Nelson defeats
French fleet at the Battle
of the Nile

MAR 2: US standardizes
weights and measures

{1700 |
Humphry Davy, English

cheist, discovers anes-

thetic quality of nitrous

oxide (laughing gas)
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MAR 4: Madison inaugu-
rated as fourth president  JUN &: Thomas Paine dies

I
SEP 7: Sianr's king Phraphut-
thayotfa Chulalok dies after
a27year reign

MAY: Congress repeals.

US census shows more than New York City surpasses 1809 Non-Intercourse Act,
7 million people, including  Philadelphia as largest esumes American trade
more than 1 million slaves  American ity with Britain and France
480
Prussia abolishes serfdom  French chemist names ac-  King Kamehamehal urifies
tive ingredient of tobacco  Hawaii
nicotine

JAN 10: Napoleon divorces
his wife Josephine
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Candidates for presidential

election decided: Federal-  Democratic-Republicans— AUG: Planned slave insur-
ists—lohn Adams and Thomas Jefferson and APR 24: Library of Congress  MAY 7: Congress creates  rection failsin Virginia;
Charles C. Pinkn Aaron Burr founded Indiana territory leaders are hanged

NATIONAL
EVENTS

(180 |
P Italian physicist Alessandro Mason Locke (“Parson MAR pe Pius VIl MAY 15: Napoleon crosses JUN 14: Battle of Maren
X Voltadevelops electric Weems") publishes Life of ordained theAlpsandinvades ltaly  Napoleon defeats Austrian
g

storage battery Washington, a popular but forces in ftaly

g
] largely fictional biography

of George Washington





OEBPS/Images/49-1.jpg
MAY 16: US and British
ships fight off New York
coast

NOV 16: Missouri is epi-

center of one of the most New York City and Boston;
powerful earthquakesin  causes the Mississippi River
NOV 7 Battle of Tippecanoe _ history; effects are feltin  to run backwards

MAR 1: Mohammed Ali,
uler of Egypt, killlast
mamluk (miltary)leaders

FEB 11: Governor Elbridge  Democratic-Republican
Gerry of Massachusetts victory;redrawing district
signs law allowing redraw- for poliica reasons,thus
ing of districtlines to ensure “gemymandering”

MAR 26: Earthquake MAY 28: Treaty of Bucharest
destroys Carcas, Venezuela signed, ending Russo-Turkish
War (1806-1812)
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MAR 2: Supreme Court rules.
Firstreported strike by Mountain man Jedediah thousands of wagon trains-  Fellow mountain man that federal goverment
female workers ocursat  Smith discovers South Pass,  for easy access throughthe Jim Bridger discovers the  controlsinterstate com-
Pawtucket, Rhodelsland  which later will be used by Rocky Mountains Great Salt Lake merce in Gibbons v. Ogden

NATIONAL
EVENTS

T ——
Singapore becomes a British ~ FEB 10: Simon Bolivar MAR 4: John Cadbury opens  MAR 17: Anglo-Dutch Treaty  MAY 11: Britsh occupy
colony named dictator of Peru atea and chocolate shopin  of 1824 signed Rangoon, Buma; beginning

Bimingham, England of Burmese War
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JUL 12: The Missouri NOV 10: Osage Indians sign  DEC 7: Democratic-
Gazette begins publication  treaty granting theirlandsin Republican nominee James

APR 6: John Jacob Astor in St.Louis, making it the  Missouri and Arkansas; they  Madison wins presidential

cteates the American Fur first newspaper west of the  move to rea later known as election; George Clinton is

Company Mississippi River Oklahoma vice president
L |

FEB 21: Russian troops APR: First typewriter built  DEC 22: Beethoven conducts

invade Finland in taly s Fith Symphony for first
time at Vienna concert
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NATIONAL

EVENTS

MAR lonroe’s second
granted land and pemission  inauguration; “Hail o the SEPT 21: William Becknell
by panish governmentin  Chief" first played using Teads first wagon train from  NOV: Andrew Jackson
Mexico to bring 300 families  words from Walter Scott's AU 10: Missouri admitted  Independence, Missouri, o appointed govemor of
to sttle land inTexas poem “Lady of the Lake” as 24th state santa Fe Florida, but resigns.

Panama, Peru, Costa Rica, FEB 2 lexico gains its MAR 25: Greece declares AAUG 30: Simon Bolivar
Guatemala, and Honduras  independence from Spain  independence from Ottoman i becomes president of
dedare independence from Empire, starting Greek War Gran Colombia (present-
Spain for Independence day Panama, Ecuador,
Venezuela, and Colombia)
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NATIONAL
EVENTS

MAY 10: First ship of new JUL 8: William Blount of SUMMER: Three peace
MAR 4: Adams inaugurated  US Navy is launched—USS JUN 7: Senate ratifies treaty  Tennessee first US senator commissioners dispatched
as second president United States with the Bey of Tripol to be expelled to France
L —
FEB 26: Great Britain issues  MAY 12: Napoleon | of JUL 9: France proclaims 0CT 17: Peace of Campo

first £1 bank notes and France conquers Verice Cisalpine Republic of Milan,  Formio ends Austrian
copper pennies (ending 1,070 years of Modena, Ferrara, Bologna,  opposition to France;
independence); the last Romagna) Austria cedes

doge steps down
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NATIONAL

EVENTS

MAR 2: Congress passes its
firstlaw regulating immigra-
tion,including registration

FEB 6 British trading post
established in Singapore

MAR 2: Arkansas Territory.
established

DEC 14; Alabama admitted
as 22nd state

Fourth census shows US
population at 9.6 million

MAR 3: Missouri Compro-
mise adopted; slavery now
illegal north of 36°30 in
Louisiana Territory; proposes

adniting Missouri as a
slave state and Maine as.
a free state

Venus de Milo statue
discovered on Greek isle
of Milos

Census shows Great Britain
has population of 20,8 mil-
lion, France 30.4 million

Spain's King Ferdinand VIl
‘announces end of Inquisition
started by Queen Isabella

in 1477





